

DUAL-BAND FSK RECEIVER AND BUILDING

BLOCK DESIGN FOR UWB IMPULSE RADIO

MURLI UNNIKRISHNAN NAIR

(B. Eng., McGill University)

A THESIS SUBMITTED

FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF ENGINEERING

DEPARTMENT OF ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER

ENGINEERING

NATIONAL UNIVERSITY OF SINGAPORE

2007

Name: MURLI U. NAIR

Degree: Master of Engineering

Department: Electrical and Computer Engineering, NUS

Title: Dual-band FSK receiver and building block design for UWB Impulse radio

I. <u>Abstract</u>

A CMOS non-coherent impulse radio receiver implementing a dual-band frequency shift keying (FSK) modulation scheme for ultra-wideband communication is presented. The quadrature direct-conversion architecture of the receiver retains low-complexity operation while the added diversity gain of the FSK modulation enables reliable demodulation at signal to interference ratio (SIR) as low as –60dB. Several innovative circuit structures including an area and power efficient UWB low-noise amplifier utilizing active inductors and a hybrid topology mixer to extend operational bandwidth without compromising conversion gain have been explored. In addition, a 4-bit R-2R DAC capable of less than 0.5 LSB INL and DNL, a four-quadrant squarer with squaring gain of 65 and a dual threshold comparator with more than 700mV hysterisis and have also been designed.

The fabricated receiver achieves a sensitivity of -88 dBm at a BER of 10^{-5} at 25 MHz data rate with an energy efficiency of 2.7 to 4.95 nJ/bit.

Keywords: ultra-wideband (UWB), receiver, low-noise amplifier, frequency shift keying (FSK), digital to analog converter (DAC), active inductor

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the many friends and colleagues who have supported and challenged me during my post-graduate studies. Firstly, I am deeply indebted to my supervisors, Dr. Zheng Yuanjin and Prof. Lian Yong for their constant support and invaluable guidance. I am also grateful to the Institute of Microelectronics, Singapore and its entire staff, especially in the Integrated Circuits and Systems (ICS) group for giving me an opportunity to work at their excellent facilities.

Thanks are also due to all the members of my research group who not only provided insightful views and discussions, but also contributed by designing some of the sub-blocks that are used in the system discussed in this thesis. Specifically, I would like to acknowledge Mr. Ang Chyuen Wei, Ms. Fei Ting and Ms. Nina Ann George for the designs of the 3-stage current reuse low-noise amplifier, quadrature voltage controlled oscillator and the low-pass filter respectively. This work would have been impossible without their contributions. I am also grateful to Mr. Gao Yuan, Mr. Diao Sheng Xi and the rest of the ICS staff for the many hours of discussions and instructions that I have received from them.

Lastly, I would like to reserve special thanks for my family and friends for their constant love and support and I hope that this humble achievement will serve as a small repayment for all their sacrifices.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
SUMMARY	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVATIONS	xiii

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Overview of UWB Communication	1
1.2 Motivation	3
1.3 Organization of thesis	4

2.	RF system design fundamentals	6
	2.1 Impedance matching	6
	2.2 Scattering parameters	7
	2.3 Noise Figure	8
	2.4 Linearity and IIP3	10
	2.5 Signal to Noise ratio	11
	2.6 Minimum detectable Signal (MDS)	12
	2.7 Dynamic Range	12

3. Conventional UWB receiver architectures	14
3.1 Narrowband receiver overview	14
3.1.1 Common modulation schemes	14
3.1.1.1 Binary Phase Shift Keying (BPSK)	14

	3.1.1.2 Frequency Shift Keying (FSK)	15
	3.1.2 Common receiver architectures	16
	3.1.2.1 Direct Conversion (DC) receiver	16
	3.1.2.2 Super-heterodyne receiver	18
	3.2 UWB receiver overview	19
	3.2.1 DS-UWB receiver architectures	20
	3.2.1.1 Coherent receivers	20
	3.2.1.2 Non-coherent receivers	22
	4. Proposed system architecture	25
	4.1 UWB Impulse based Dual-band FSK modulation	26
	4.2 Proposed Receiver Architecture	27
	4.3 Mathematical model for proposed receiver system	30
	5. Receiver Building Blocks design	34
5.1 Low-noise amplifier	5.1 Low-noise amplifier	34
	5.1.1 Common wideband LNA topologies	35
	5.1.2 UWB LNA utilizing Active Inductor	39
	5.1.2.1 Active Inductor design	39
	5.1.2.2 LNA design	42
	5.1.3 3-stage current reuse UWB LNA	46
	5.2 UWB Mixer	48
	5.2.1 Gate-source injection mixer	49
	5.2.2 Gilbert Cell mixer	50
	5.2.3 Hybrid Mixer	51
	5.3 Quadrature VCO	54
	5.4 R-2R Digital to Analog Converter	55
	5.4.1 R-2R Ladder	57
	5.4.2 Voltage mode R-2R DAC	59
	5.5 Low-pass Filter and IF Amplifier	62
	5.6 Squarer	65

5.7 Differential to Single-ended (D-S) converter	67
5.8 Comparator	69
6. System Integration and Simulation results	72
6.1 System Simulation setup	72
6.2 Layout considerations	74
6.3 Simulation and Measurement results	76
6.3.1 Integrated receiver simulation results	76
6.3.2 Receiver front-end measurement results	81
6.3.3 Integrated receiver measurement results	82
7. Conclusion and Future Directions	85
7.1 Conclusions	85
7.2 Future Directions	86
REFERENCE LIST	87
APPENDIX A: Active Inductor based UWB LNA die photo	91
APPENDIX B: Dual-band UWB FSK receiver integrated front-end die photo	9 2
APPENDIX C: Dual-band UWB FSK fully integrated receiver layout	93
APPENDIX D: Publication List	94

SUMMARY

Ultra-wideband technology is fast gaining popularity in high speed, short range wireless communication and localization applications due to its extremely low transmission levels and ability to share the congested 3-10 GHz communication band with other existing narrow-band devices. However, due to its unique pulse based implementation, the design of conventional I-UWB receivers differs significantly from traditional radio systems and generally suffers from added system complexity due to the additional circuit blocks needed for synchronization and channel estimation requirements. In this thesis, an alternate I-UWB receiver structure based on a novel system approach which incorporates the unique benefits of UWB while at the same time reducing design complexity and achieving better interference rejection is proposed and discussed.

A new dual-band FSK modulation scheme using conventional short monocycle Gaussian pulses and the corresponding receiver system architecture capable of implementing this scheme are described in detail. Based on these system characteristics, required RF components are designed in Chartered Semiconductor's 0.18µm process and analyzed. Several building blocks required for system implementation including an LNA, mixer, DAC, squarer and comparator are designed and their functionality is analyzed in detail both theoretically and through extensive simulation and measurements.

Active inductors are utilized in the LNA design in order to achieve a

vii

drastically reduced chip size of 0.05mm² while maintaining wideband (3-5GHz) operation with a gain of 15.1dB and noise figure (NF) between 4.95dB to 6.1dB while consuming 7.1 mW. A hybrid UWB mixer structure which combines the gate-source injection and Gilbert cell topologies in order to extend the operational bandwidth without compromising conversion gain has been implemented. It can achieve greater than 5.5dB conversion gain with 11dB NF and excellent isolation over the entire 3.1-4.8 GHz bandwidth. A 4-bit R-2R resistor ladder structure is used to implement the DAC which is capable of less than 0.5 LSB INL and DNL performance with less than 25ns settling time for maximum output voltage step (0-1.8V). A four quadrant baseband squarer with a squaring gain of 65 and input bandwidth of 210MHz is also utilized. The comparator has a dual threshold operation with more than 700mV hysterisis and is also capable of excellent signal integrity and load driving capabilities.

As the final objective of this work, the various component blocks are laid out and are used to realize the proposed receiver system in $0.18\mu m$ CMOS technology. The feasibility of implementation of the proposed I-UWB system and its functionality are confirmed and its unique ability to reject in-band interference is also demonstrated. The receiver can achieve a voltage sensitivity of up to $90\mu V$ and IIP3 of -32 dBm at a data-rate in excess of 25 MHz while consuming between 48 to 84 mA current from a 1.8V source.

LIST OF TABLES

Table I:	Comparison of presented work with other published LNA designs	
	utilizing Active Inductors	46
Table II:	Overall simulated receiver performance	77
Table III:	: Summary of measured receiver performance and benchmarking against	
	state of the art in publication	84

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.1 UWB capacity versus other WLAN technologies	2
Fig. 1.2 FCC Spectral Mask for UWB Communication Systems	3
Fig. 2.1 Conjugate matching of reactive impedances using a matching network	7
Fig. 2.2 S-parameter representation of an N-port network	8
Fig. 2.3 3 rd order intermodulation behavior and IIP3 definition	11
Fig. 2.4 Graphical definition of the dynamic range	13
Fig. 3.1 BPSK Modulation	15
Fig. 3.2 FSK Modulation	16
Fig. 3.3 Direct Conversion receiver architecture	17
Fig. 3.4 Super-heterodyne receiver architecture	19
Fig. 3.5 Basic coherent UWB receiver architecture	21
Fig. 3.6 Non-coherent Transmitted Reference UWB receiver architecture	22
Fig. 3.7 Non-coherent Auto-correlation UWB receiver architecture	23
Fig. 4.1 Wideband FSK Modulation sub-band allocation	26
Fig. 4.2 Proposed receiver architecture for UWB dual-band FSK	27
Fig. 4.3 Gaussian monocycle pulse in time domain	30
Fig. 4.4 Analytical UWB dual FSK system model	31
Fig. 5.1 Common LNA topologies (a) Resistive termination (b) Common gate	
(c) Shunt-series Feedback. (d) Common source with inductive degeneration	36
Fig. 5.2 Small signal model of a source degeneration amplifier	38
Fig. 5.3 (a) Active inductor structure; (b) Small signal equivalent	40
Fig. 5.4 High frequency performance of the active inductor	41
Fig. 5.5 Overall three stage LNA schematic	43
Fig. 5.5 (a) Individual and staggered stage gains (b) Measured () and simulat	ed
() S21 and S11 (c) Measured Noise Figure (d) Measured Linearity	44
Fig. 5.6 3-stage current reuse UWB LNA	47

Fig. 5.7 (a) Gate source mixer architecture (b) Associated 4 quadrant cancellation	on
scheme	49
Fig. 5.8 Gilbert cell mixer architecture	50
Fig. 5.9 Hybrid mixer architecture	52
Fig. 5.10 Hybrid mixer conversion gain	53
Fig. 5.11 (a) LO-RF Isolation (b) RF-IF Isolation (c) LO-IF Isolation	
(d) Noise Figure	53
Fig. 5.12 QVCO structure	54
Fig. 5.13 (a) Gain error (b) Offset error (c) DNL representation (d) INL	
representation	56
Fig. 5.14 N-bit R-2R ladder in voltage mode	57
Fig. 5.15 R-2R ladder with [0,0,,bn=1, 0,0 0] input	57
Fig. 5.16 R-2R ladder equivalent circuit	58
Fig. 5.17 Proposed R-2R ladder DAC circuit	60
Fig. 5.18 Loaded DAC output for (a) Monotonic step input (b) Maximum	
step input	61
Fig. 5.19 Op-amp Gain and phase response	61
Fig. 5.20 First order Gm-C filter	62
Fig. 5.21 Bi-quadratic Gm-C filter	62
Fig. 5.22 Intermediate Frequency (IF) Amplifier	63
Fig. 5.23 Frequency response of (a) 5th order Elliptic LPF (b) Filter +	
IF Amplifier	64
Fig. 5.24 Squarer architecture	65
Fig. 5.25 Squarer transient response with a filtered pulse train input	67
Fig. 5.26 Differential to Single-ended converter	68
Fig. 5.27 (a) CMOS Schmitt trigger and (b) associated hysterisis	
Characteristics	70
Fig. 5.28 Schmitt trigger with 4-stage inverter chain	71
Fig. 5.29 (a) Comparator hysterisis and (b) propagation delays	71
Fig. 6.1 System front-end simulation setup	73

Fig. 6.2 System back-end simulation setup	73
Fig. 6.3 Simulated receiver performance (Band 2 demodulation)	78
Fig. 6.4 Simulated receiver performance in clean channel	
(Band 2 demodulation)	79
Fig. 6.5 Simulated receiver demodulation and interference rejection performance	ce
(Band 1 demodulation)	80
Fig. 6.6 Measured receiver front-end performance	81
Fig. 6.7 QVCO I and Q single-ended outputs at 3.6 GHz	82
Fig. 6.8 Receiver demodulated output of UWB FSK signal in Band '1'	83
Fig. 6.9 Receiver demodulated output of UWB FSK signal in Band '2'	84

LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVATIONS

- C_L Load Capacitance
- I_{ds} Drain to source current of a MOSFET
- I_{out} Output current
- M Symbol for MOS transistor
- g_{mA} Transconductance of MOSFET M_A
- r_o Drain source resistance of mos transistor
- Z_{in/out} Input/ Output resistance
- V_{ctrl} Control voltage for QVCO
- V_{DD} Positive supply voltage
- V_{out} Output voltage
- V_T Threshold Voltage
- ω_p Pole
- Av Voltage Gain
- V_{ds} Drain-source voltage of MOSFET
- K Transconductance parameter of MOSFET
- μ_0 Mobility of MOSFET
- Cox Unit gate capacitance of MOSFET
- W/L Aspect ratio of MOSFET

- ADS Advanced Design System
- CMOS Complementary MOS
- DLL Delay Lock Loop
- FCC Federal Communication Commission
- IC Integrated Circuit
- ICS Integrated Circuit and Systems
- IME Institute of Microelectronics
- MOSFET Metal-Oxide Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor
- NMOS N-channel Metal Oxide Semiconductor
- NUS National University of Singapore
- RF Radio Frequency
- SNR Signal to Noise Ratio
- UWB Ultra Wide band

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Overview of UWB Communications

Over the past decade, the notion of traditional wired telecommunication which has prevailed for over half a century has become obsolete and is rapidly being replaced by wireless communication systems. From global applications like cellular telephones, wireless internet networks and Global Positioning System (GPS) to personal applications like personal digital assistants (PDA) and Bluetooth, wireless technology is gaining a presence in every facet of our lives. However, to sustain this presence, new wireless technologies are required that can achieve higher speeds and higher data-rates so as to meet the ever changing demands of today's devices.

Ultra wide-band (UWB) is an emerging wireless technology which shows great potential for short range, high data-rate communication and localization applications. The biggest advantages of the UWB technology are derived from the fact that it utilizes a much wider bandwidth and operates at much lower power levels than traditional narrowband systems. This statement is supported by the Shannon-Hartley Theorem (Eq. (1.1)) for channel capacity which states that in an additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) environment, the maximum channel capacity (*C*) is directly proportional to the bandwidth (*B*) of the channel and to the logarithm of signal to noise ratio (*SNR*).

$$C = B \log_2(1 + SNR) \tag{1.1}$$

This means that the wide operational bandwidth of UWB communication allows it to achieve higher data-rates more cost-effectively (i.e. without an exponential rise in signal power) than narrowband systems while at the same time the very low transmission levels allow co-existence between UWB and existing standards. The unique features of UWB technology are especially beneficial in short range applications where it can achieve much higher channel capacities than existing standards as shown in Fig. 1.1 [3]. Moreover, the narrow pulse based nature of UWB makes it much less immune to multipath distortion due to destructive fading than narrowband systems.

UWB technology is at present defined by the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) as any wireless transmission scheme that occupies a fractional bandwidth of more than 20% with respect to its center frequency or more than 500 MHz of absolute bandwidth. More specifically, the FCC has approved the unlicensed deployment of UWB in the 3.1-10.6 GHz range subject to strict regulations that limit the emitted power spectral density (PSD) measured over a 1 MHz bandwidth to below -41.3 dBm as shown in Fig. 1.2 [1].



Fig. 1.1 UWB capacity versus other WLAN technologies



Fig. 1.2 FCC Spectral Mask for UWB Communication Systems

1.2 Motivation

Due to its unique features, in recent years UWB has found applications in high speed short range wireless data connectivity between several remote hosts as well as in sensor networks and precision localization and ranging. With the significant interest being shown by the research community and a concerted effort on the part of the regulatory bodies to finalize the standards, the future is looking very bright for UWB technology and it is tipped as having potential for realizing an exciting new set of applications that are presently not being fulfilled by other wireless short range technologies currently available (e.g., 802.11 LANs (Local Area Networks) and Bluetooth PANs (Personal area networks)). The key to successful implementation of any telecommunications platform in mainstream applications is the cost feasibility, robustness and reliable performance of the end product. These demands are especially difficult to meet at the high operating frequencies of UWB devices and pose unique challenges to circuit designers.

In this thesis, a UWB receiver architecture which utilizes a novel dual-band FSK modulation scheme for a UWB impulse Radio (IR) system is proposed. The design of the building blocks has been done in the 0.18µm CMOS technology provided by Chartered Semiconductors foundry. All the constituent components have been built in silicon CMOS technology instead of using specialized III-V technologies like GaAs or SiGe which provide better RF performance in terms of output power, linearity and phase noise. This choice is made because silicon CMOS in the most mature and cost effective technology and at the same time guarantees better yields and a larger scope for future integration with baseband and digital processes.

1.3 Organization of the Thesis

Chapter 2 is dedicated to briefly introducing some fundamental RF design concepts to facilitate the understanding of the rest of the thesis.

In chapter 3, popular receiver architectures for conventional narrowband well as DS-UWB systems are briefly reviewed. The related Binary Phase Shift Keying (BPSK) and Frequency Shift Keying (FSK) modulation schemes are also discussed.

In Chapter 4, a new modulation scheme for I-UWB applications, 'dual-band UWB FSK' is proposed and the quadrature receiver designed to implement this scheme is discussed

Chapter 5 concentrates on design of the various UWB receiver building blocks for the required application and their performance. Blocks including an LNA, mixer, DAC, squarer and comparator are discussed in detail. Blocks designed by group members are briefly introduced.

In chapter 6, detailed simulation results of the aforementioned receiver system are shown. Measurement results from tests carried out on the fabricated front-end alone are also given

Conclusions drawn from this work are given in Chapter 7 along with suggestions for future work.

Chapter 2

RF system design fundamentals

Even though the receiver structures used in UWB telecommunication have several parallels with more conventional low frequency narrowband systems, the design of the various required components is radically different due to the unique demands of RF wide bandwidth operation. In order to understand these challenges better, this chapter is dedicated to briefly explaining some of the key RF design parameters and the ways in which these specifications are met.

2.1 Impedance matching

In order to achieve the best possible system performance in any electrical system, it is essential to ensure that there is a maximum transfer of power between the output of each block and the input of the subsequent block. In the case of passive devices with fixed input and output resistances, this condition can be achieved by making the load and source resistances the same. However in the case of active devices with reactive input and output impedances, the condition for maximum power is met when the source and load impedances are complex conjugates of each. In all practical electrical structures, including the circuit blocks that will be discussed in this thesis, the latter situation applies and hence special attention needs to be paid to ensure that proper impedance matching is obtained. However, since the inherent reactive properties of successive blocks almost never match each other, it is often necessary to add an impedance matching network to achieve maximum power transfer. As shown in Fig 2.1, in most cases an impedance matching network is a specific configuration of suitably chosen reactive components (capacitors or inductors) that buffer successive stages in a circuit chain so that the effective load and source impedances seen by each block satisfy the maximum power transfer requirement.



Fig. 2.1 Conjugate matching of reactive impedances using a matching network

2.2 Scattering Parameters

One of the biggest challenges in RF circuit design is posed by the fact that at high frequencies, the impedance of even small reactive components becomes significant and hence cannot be neglected. This means that all parasitic elements of the transistors, transmission lines, bonding wires etc. need to be included in the design process to achieve accurate results. But in doing so, the process of circuit design from basic design equations becomes overly complex and intractable. Scattering parameters are an essential circuit design tool that allows the accurate and efficient characterization of even the most complex component in a way that simplifies the design steps considerably.

7

The S parameter representation of any *N*-port electrical network is an *N* by *N* matrix as shown in Fig 2.2 which characterizes the network in its entirety as an *N*-port 'black box' based on its response to various steady state small signal stimuli. Various circuit performance parameters can be easily derived directly from this simple and handy representation. The S-parameter based metrics used extensively in the design and analysis of the 2-port circuit blocks described in this thesis are as follows:

Scalar logarithmic gain, $A = 20 \log_{10} | S_{21} | dB$

Input Return Loss, $RL_{in} = |20\log_{10}|S_{11}|| dB$

Output Return Loss, $RL_{out} = |20\log_{10} | S_{22} || dB$

Reverse Isolation, $A_{rev} = 20 \log_{10} |S_{21}| dB$

Port 1 Port 2	$S_{11} S_{12} \dots S_{1N}$ S_{21}
Port 3	S ₃₁
Port N	

Fig. 2.2 S-parameter representation of an N-port network

In all the following S-parameter usage, a characteristic impedance of 50Ω is assumed.

2.3 Noise Figure

Noise can be seen as any undesired interference signal present in a system within the pass band of the desired signal. Noise adversely affects the signal detection capability of the system. Several forms of noise have been identified in electrical devices including

thermal noise and flicker noise. Noise can be characterized as a random variable with Gaussian distribution and zero mean and is generally quantified as a root mean square (RMS) value over a specified time interval as

$$V_{nRMS} = \sqrt{\int_{T_0}^{T_0 + T_M} [v_n(t)]^2 dt}$$
(2.1)

where $v_n(t)$ is the instantaneous noise voltage variable and T_0 to T_0+T_M is the time interval of interest.

The source of noise in conductors is the inherent random motion of charge carriers. In particular, the two major sources of noise in any RF circuit are the thermal noise of resistors and transistors. These can be quantified as follows [11]

$$V_{nRES}^{2} = 4kTRB \tag{2.2}$$

$$V_{nMOS}^{2} = 4kT\gamma g_{m}B$$
(2.3)

where *k* is Boltzmann's constant (1.38 x10⁻¹² J/ °K), *T* is the absolute temperature in °K, *B* is the noise bandwidth (Hertz) of the system and V_{nRES} and V_{nMOS} represent the RMS thermal noise voltages of a resistor *R* and a MOSFET in saturation with transconductance g_m and γ represents a technology dependant coefficient ($\gamma = 2/3$ and > 4/3 for long and short channel devices respectively).

In circuit design, noise figure (NF) is a measure of the degradation of the signal to noise ratio (SNR), caused by components in the RF signal chain. In other words, the noise figure is the ratio of the total output noise power of a device to the portion thereof attributable to the noise at the input from the source.

$$NF = 10\log_{10}\frac{SNR_{in}}{SNR_{out}}$$
(2.4)

NF is an important metric for almost all radio components and low NF is essential for high system sensitivity.

2.4 Linearity and IIP3

All devices are non-linear to some extent and it is unrealistic to expect even the most carefully designed circuit to behave perfectly linearly over all input power levels. Therefore the transfer function of a device can be modeled by Taylor series expansion as

$$V_{out} = k_1 V_{in} + k_2 V_{in}^{2} + k_3 V_{in}^{3} + \dots$$
(2.5)

where $k_{1..n}$ are known constants. Now assume that the device is excited by an input signal consisting of two adjacent frequency tones so that $V_{in} = A\cos\omega_1 t + A\cos\omega_2 t$. Then by expanding the output term and applying some basic trigonometric identities, we find

$$V_{out} = \alpha_1 A (\cos \omega_1 t + \cos \omega_2 t) + \alpha_2 A^2 (\cos(\omega_1 + \omega_2)t + \cos(\omega_1 - \omega_2)t) - \alpha_3 A^3 (\cos(2\omega_1 - \omega_2)t + \cos(2\omega_2 t - \omega_1 t) + ..) + ..$$
(2.6)

where generally $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2 > \alpha_3 > \dots$

As seen in Eq. (2.6), for higher power levels, the output of the device gets more and more distorted by higher order harmonics. Since the 3^{rd} order product components, $2\omega_2$ - ω_1 and $2\omega_1$ - ω_2 lie in close proximity to the desired frequency components, they merit special attention. Fig. 2.2 [12] illustrates the behavior of the third-order intermodulation products as input power level increases. With the input and output powers plotted on a log scale, the intermodulation product amplitudes follow straight line trajectories with gradients proportional the order of the products. By extrapolating these lines, a theoretical threshold called Input referred 3^{rd} order intermodulation point (IIP3) can be derived which signifies the maximum input power level below which the fundamental tones are stronger than the 3rd order harmonics. IIP3 serves as a measure for the device's linearity.



Fig. 2.3 3rd order intermodulation behavior and IIP3 definition

For N cascaded stages, the IIP3 of the system ($IIP3_{total}$) can be expressed as:

$$\frac{1}{IIP3_{total}} = \frac{1}{IIP3_1} + \frac{G_1}{IIP3_2} + \frac{G_1G_2}{IIP3_3} + \dots + \frac{G_1G_2\dots G_{n-1}}{IIP3_n}$$
(2.7)

Where $IIP3_n$ is the IIP3 of the *n*th stage, G_n is the power gain of the *n*th stage.

2.5 Signal to Noise ratio

SNR is a measure of the clarity of a signal. It is defined as the ratio of a signal power to the background noise power corrupting the signal and can be written as

$$SNR = \frac{P_{signal}}{P_{noise}}$$
(2.8)

2.6 Minimum detectable Signal (MDS)

MDS is another key performance metric for any receiver system and quantifies its sensitivity to weak input signals. It signifies the smallest possible input signal that can be successfully detected and demodulated by the receiver chain. In practical terms, the MDS is determined by the Noise Floor, which represents the sum of all present noisy sources within the system and the minimum possible SNR of the device. It can be written as [13]

$$MDS = P_n + NF + 10\log BW + SNR_{\min}$$
(2.9)

where BW is the bandwidth of the system and P_n represents the average noise power per unit frequency bandwidth (approximately -174 dBm/Hz) at the input to the device. Note that the sum of the first three terms represents the noise floor of the system.

2.7 Dynamic Range

In the same way that the noise floor determines the MDS of a system, the dynamic range determines the maximum possible input signal that the system can handle. We have seen in an earlier subsection how the IIP3 quantifies the non-linear nature of a system. But this input level is a purely theoretical value since in almost all real devices the output signal starts to saturate well before the IIP3 level is reached.

An alternative representation of the signal distortion is the 1 dB compression point. As the input approaches the system's saturation region, the output signal begins to fall. The point where the gain of the system deviates from its linear approximation by 1 dB is called the 1 dB compression point. The difference between the power levels of the 1 dB compression point and the MDS is defined as the Dynamic Range of a system as shown in Fig. 2.4 [12]. This represents the effective linear region of the system within which input signals can be demodulated accurately without being distorted by noise or intermodulation products.



Fig. 2.4 Graphical definition of the dynamic range

Chapter 3

Conventional UWB receiver architectures

This chapter discusses various popular RF receiver architectures. The first section briefly reviews direct conversion and super heterodyne receiver architectures used for conventional narrowband wireless communication systems. The second section focuses on two of the most popular receiver architectures used to implement the DS-UWB scheme.

3.1 Narrowband receiver overview

3.1.1 Common modulation schemes

Most narrowband signals are characterized by a stream of digital data being modulated by a high frequency carrier signal to enable wireless transmission over long ranges. Several modulation schemes can be utilized in order to achieve this and they can be classed broadly into three categories, the somewhat archaic amplitude modulation (AM) and the more popular phase modulation (PM) and frequency modulation (FM). A brief understanding of the latter two modulation techniques can be garnered by analyzing two specific modulation schemes, namely binary phase-shift keying (BPSK) and frequency shift keying (FSK).

3.1.1.1 Binary Phase-Shift Keying (BPSK)

BPSK is an example of Phase modulation. In this scheme, the phase of a constant amplitude carrier signal is switched between two values (0° and 180°) according to the two possible signals corresponding to binary 1 and 0 respectively as shown in Fig. 3.1.

This scheme is also sometimes referred to as antipodal modulation since the two binary bits are negatives of each other. The sharp phase transitions involved have the effect of producing a very wideband transmitted spectrum. In order to combat this, M-ary PSK modulation schemes are utilized so that more than 1 bit of data can be transmitted per signaling interval and hence increase the bandwidth utilization.



Fig. 3.1 BPSK Modulation

3.1.1.2 Frequency Shift Keying (FSK)

FSK is an example of Frequency modulation. In this scheme, the digital information is transmitted through discrete frequency changes of the carrier wave. So, a set of *M* different carrier frequencies are needed for *M*-FSK. Fig. 3.2 illustrates the modulation scheme in the 2-FSK mode. The main advantage of FSK over PSK is that the transmitted FSK signal has continuous phase characteristics and therefore occupies a smaller bandwidth for the same symbol rate. Moreover, the constant envelope nature of FSK modulated signals makes it impervious to the effects of filtering and spectral re-growth when passing through the devices in the receiver chain.



Fig. 3.2 FSK Modulation

3.1.2 Common receiver architectures

Before delving into the design of UWB receivers, it is instructive to first look at some conventional narrowband receiver designs. These receivers employ techniques that have been incorporated in the proposed UWB receiver design.

3.1.2.1 Direct Conversion (DC) receiver

The simplest RF receiver structure is of the DC variety which uses a single down conversion stage to convert the received RF signal directly to a demodulated baseband signal. In order to do this, the incoming signals are amplified and mixed with a local oscillator signal synchronized in frequency to the carrier of the wanted signal. The basic architecture of a DC receiver in shown in Fig. 3.3

The biggest advantages of the DC architecture are its simplicity and high selectivity. But it also suffers from several drawbacks that make it a less attractive candidate for robust radio design. These factors are:



Fig. 3.3 Direct Conversion receiver architecture

DC Offsets

Since in a direct conversion topology the down-converted band extends to zero frequency, extraneous offset voltages can corrupt the signal and more importantly, saturate the following stages. In this respect, the phenomenon of self mixing of the LO signal due to inadequate isolation or the mixing product of a strong in band interferer can be detrimental to the receiver performance.

Flicker Noise

Since the down-converted spectrum extends to zero frequency, the flicker noise of devices, which can usually be disregarded due to its limited bandwidth, substantially corrupts the signals. This is a severe problem especially in MOS implementations.

Even order harmonics

Due to the single down-conversion stage employed, adjacent interference signals can produce even order inter-modulation products that occur near the desired down converted baseband signal, thereby causing significant distortion that may not be removable by post filtering.

3.1.2.2 Super-heterodyne receiver

Heterodyne receivers are the most popular narrowband receiver architectures. In order to alleviate the problems caused by the zero intermediate frequency (IF) nature of direct conversion receivers, super-heterodyne receivers employ more than one demodulation stage with non zero IF. Fig. 3.4 shows a dual IF super-heterodyne receiver where the received signal in down-converted twice by two distinct LO frequencies ω_1 and ω_2 to IFs ω_{IF1} and ω_{IF2} .

In order to ensure proper demodulation while operating with non-zero IFs, an image rejection filter is required preceding every down-conversion stage in the superheterodyne receiver chain. These filters require a band-pass response with sharp roll-offs often with very narrow pass bands which makes them extremely difficult to design. This combined with the requirement for additional VCO and mixer blocks for proper demodulation make the super-heterodyne architecture much more complex and inefficient with regard to power and area.



Fig. 3.4 Super-heterodyne receiver architecture

3.2 UWB receiver overview

There are two competing physical layer specifications available; one that is based on direct sequence spread spectrum (DS-UWB), and the other that is based on multiband orthogonal frequency division multiplexing (MB-OFDM) [4]. In MB-OFDM, entire UWB band is divided into several smaller sub-bands and orthogonal UWB pulse trains are generated using several equally spaced carriers. These pulse trains are then transmitted simultaneously in order to achieve high bit-rates and optimize the spectral efficiency. However, the need to generate and demodulate multiple carriers adds to the complexity of MB-OFDB transceivers. In addition, due to the loss of orthogonality of the various channel in a multipath fading channel, MB-OFDM systems often suffer from inter symbol interference (ISI) necessitating a high degree of synchronization [5], [9].

DS-UWB is an example of an Impulse-UWB (I-UWB) system. It utilizes narrow impulse signals to widen the bandwidth of the transmitted spectrum. Very narrow pulse width impulses can be chosen to occupy the whole UWB frequency band (3.1 - 10.6)

GHz), or alternatively several types of impulse signals with different widths can be used, each occupying a sub-band of the whole UWB spectrum. The carrier-less nature of DS-UWB systems make the transceiver architecture much simpler and are also more robust in multipath fading environments while maintaining low transmit powers.

In this thesis, I-UWB based radios will be the focus and in order to better understand this system, two of the most common receiver structures in use today implementing DS-UWB are discussed in the following section.

3.2.1 DS-UWB receiver architectures

3.2.1.1 Coherent receivers

Coherent receivers rely on demodulation of the incoming pulse train by using a locally generated template to down-convert the received signal to baseband. The basic coherent UWB receiver architecture is shown in Fig. 3.5. The LNA amplifies the weak incoming pulses and subsequently the pulses are correlated with the local pulse templates in the multiplier and integrator. The integrator outputs a constant correlation level in each period for baseband processing which generally consists of gain stages followed by an Analog to Digital Converter (ADC).

The reason for the popularity of coherent receivers is the relatively simple architecture and large achievable data rates. However, the performance of this class of receivers is directly dependant on how well the locally generated template matches the incoming waveform in time and shape. Since narrow UWB pulses undergo significant distortion in multipath fading channels, it is extremely difficult to accurately model the local template pulse to fit the received pulse for operation over varying channel qualities and transmission ranges. Moreover, the template pulses need to be synchronized with the incoming pulse train with sub-nanosecond precision and even small phase shifts can cause drastic deterioration in the correlation output.



Fig. 3.5 Basic coherent UWB receiver architecture

Another major problem of this architecture is that of DC offsets similar to those encountered in Direct Conversion receivers (DCR) discussed earlier. Since the correlation output is the result of multiplying two nearly identical signals, it consists mainly of DC and low frequency components. Therefore any DC offset caused through leakage or self mixing can significantly distort the desired baseband signal and impair the receiver performance. This phenomenon is exacerbated by the fact that most of the blocks in the receiver chain are directly coupled (DC) and hence device mismatches through differential signal paths can also cause offset errors that are liable to saturate the subsequent gain stages. In order to mitigate these inherent problems of the coherent architecture, several additional synchronization, channel estimation and offset cancellation blocks need to be added to ensure robust performance and in doing so, the receiver complexity and power consumption are greatly increased.

3.2.1.2 Non-Coherent receivers

Non-coherent DS-UWB receivers perform demodulation of the incoming pulse train without the requirement of generating a template pulse in the receiver [6], [8]. This can be achieved in many ways. In a common technique employed by Transmitted Reference (TR) receivers (Fig. 3.6), every modulated data pulse that is transmitted is accompanied by an unmodulated reference pulse separated by a fixed period, τ . Since the reference pulse is generated similarly to the data pulse and passes through the same channel, it encounters similar temporal and spectral distortion. The receiver utilizes delay cells to delay the reference pulse by τ again to resynchronize the two transmitted pulses and uses the reference to demodulate the data pulse accurately.



Fig. 3.6 Non-coherent Transmitted Reference UWB receiver architecture
A more straightforward method of achieving non-coherent detection is that used in the Auto-correlation receiver as shown in Fig 3.6. In this architecture the received impulse train itself is utilized as the reference template for down-conversion. The received weak pulse sequence is amplified by the LNA and subsequently fed to the two input ports of a multiplier concurrently, resulting in a self-modulated squared operation (Fig. 2.14d). This squaring operation de-spreads the pulse and thus has a high processing gain. The squared output is then amplified the desired baseband envelope is extracted through low-pass filtering. The extracted envelope is then passed through a threshold comparator to recover the desired baseband data.



Fig. 3.7 Non-coherent Auto-correlation UWB receiver architecture

Even though non-coherent receivers are much simpler to build than their coherent counterparts since template pulse generation and complex synchronization circuits are not required, they do have other drawbacks that affect the receiver performance.

Firstly, since the received pulses are very weak and the LNA can provide only a limited amount of gain (less than 40 dB in practice) with an acceptable noise figure, the selfcorrelation output is significantly smaller as compared to the case when a strong locally generated template is used. Moreover, the output of the squaring operation ($y = kx^2$) in the multiplier decays rapidly if the magnitude of the impulse train falls below a certain threshold. As a result, the sensitivity of the non-coherent receiver is significantly worse than that of a coherent UWB receiver described in the previous section.

Another major concern is phase mismatch between the inputs of the multiplier. Since the output of the LNA is split into two separate signal paths, it is crucial to ensure that both these paths generate the same phase delay because even small errors in synchronization will cause a significant deterioration in SNR of the demodulated signal. In addition, non-coherent receivers are very susceptible to produce erroneous detections in the presence of in-band interference signals because the self-correlation operation folds any received signal down to baseband.

Chapter 4

Proposed system architecture

From the discussion in the previous chapter on popular UWB receiver architectures that have been employed to date, it is clear that there is still room for improvement. As we have seen, the coherent structures are excessively complex due to the stringent synchronization and channel estimation requirements whereas non-coherent structures, although much simpler, lose out in terms of the overall receiver sensitivity. Moreover, both structures have relatively poor in-band interference rejection capabilities and hence negate one of the key advantages of UWB technology: the ability to co-exist with other narrowband communication standards. In order to avoid these problems, direct conversion receiver architectures for UWB receivers have also been looked into [6], [10].

In [12] and [14], the use of a simple sine wave template instead of the exact UWB pulse replica for demodulation is discussed. Even though the resultant architectures are simpler because a voltage controlled oscillator (VCO) is used to generate the template, they still require a high degree of synchronization for proper operation and hence additional blocks like a phase-locked loop (PLL) and clock recovery circuits are needed. In this thesis, a novel UWB receiver system is proposed that circumvents the tradeoff between complexity and sensitivity that afflicts traditional architectures and at the same time also displays significantly better interference rejection capabilities. This chapter starts with a description of the modulation scheme utilized. This will be followed by a brief description of the proposed receiver architecture and the various building blocks.

Finally, the overall system level operation is modeled mathematically in order to describe the working principle of the entire system more fully.

4.1 UWB Impulse based Dual-band FSK modulation

The traditional application of FSK modulation in narrowband systems was described in Chapter 3. In this project, a new form of modulation for I-UWB transmission based on wide-band impulse transmission is utilized.

In the traditional 2-FSK case, discrete data bits are assigned to fixed single tone carriers, but in the proposed modulation scheme the '1's and '0's are assigned fixed subbands of the lower UWB communications bandwidth (3.1-4.8 GHz). These sub-bands are 3.2-3.8 GHz for data bit '0' and 4.0-4.6 GHz for data bit '1' and are denoted as Band1 and Band2 in the subsequent analysis. In order to meet FCC mask requirements with conventional modulation schemes like OOK [15], PPM [16] etc., very narrow and high-swing Gaussian pulses requiring power hungry hardware for detection and synchronization are required [17] in order to cover the 3.1-4.8 GHz UWB bandwidth. Each FSK modulated pulse however only occupies a much smaller 600 MHz sub-band which greatly relaxes the constraints on pulse width and allows longer, low-swing pulses to be employed while still retaining good overall mask occupancy. Moreover, this modulation scheme retains the advantages of the robustness to multipath fading and low transmission power levels which are characteristic of UWB impulse radios.



Fig. 4.1 Wideband FSK Modulation sub-band allocation



4.2 Proposed Receiver Architecture

Fig. 4.2 Proposed receiver architecture for UWB dual-band FSK

Fig. 4.2 shows the overall schematic of the proposed receiver architecture to effectively recover the data sent using the dual-band UWB FSK modulation scheme described in the previous section. The receiver front-end consists of a low noise amplifier (LNA), a quadrature voltage controlled oscillator (QVCO), a 4-bit digital to analog converter (DAC), 2 mixers and 2 variable bandwidth low-pass filters (LPF). The back-end consists of 2 intermediate frequency amplifiers (IFA), 2 squarers, a differential to single ended (DSE) converter and a comparator.

The received pulse train is a random sequence of UWB impulses, each of which occupies either Band1 or Band2 depending on the digital data being transmitted. The weak received impulse train is amplified by the LNA and then down-converted by the mixers using the quadrature phased I and Q sinusoidal tones (0° and 90°) produced by the

QVCO. The 4 bit DAC is used to generate the control voltage for the QVCO which in turn controls the frequency of the generated sinusoidal template signal (LO). Depending on which sub-band the LO frequency lies in, either Band1 or Band2 data will be downconverted to baseband. In order to ensure proper operation, the QVCO must have a large enough tuning range to span the total operational bandwidth (3.2-4.6 GHz) and concurrently the DAC must be designed to be able to produce the control voltages required so that the QVCO frequency can be toggled over its entire tuning range. The LPF is used to filter out the out-of-band components and any narrowband interferers leaving only the baseband information of the desired sub-band. The bandwidth of the LPF is designed to be variable (between 50-300 MHz) and can be dynamically changed to maximize the amount of signal capture while maintaining the required external and inter-symbol interference rejection performance. The filtered I and Q signals are amplified by the IFAs and then squared causing further dispreading of the signal. The I and Q branch signals are subsequently added and this combined signal is then converted to a single ended signal by the DSE converter and subsequently a comparator is used to generate an NRZ data train representing the demodulation output. Since the output of the comparator still has a very low duty cycle, some basic baseband processing needs to be applied to it to match it to the data bit rate.

The FSK modulation scheme allows the system to benefit from added frequency diversity. Since '1' and '0' bits are modulated to separate wideband frequency channels, the system in effect transmits complimentary data the 2 channels, either of which could be used to demodulate the transmitted data. The frequent impairments suffered by the UWB channel, especially in indoor environments due to in-band interference from a

neighboring communication device can be assumed to be narrowband in nature and hence confined to one of the 2 sub-bands. In such cases, the data in the affected sub-band is corrupted by the interfering signal and causes demodulation errors. The signal processing unit in the off-chip baseband processor responds to the erroneous detections by altering the DAC control signals so as to shift the LO frequency to demodulate the data in the unaffected sub-band. This enables robust demodulation to be maintained even in the presence of strong interference.

The worst case interference scenario for this implementation is when the interference falls in the region at the mean of the center frequencies of the 2 sub-bands, i.e. around 3.9 GHz. In this case, both channels are equally affected and sufficient interference signal may fall within the receiver passband to compromise demodulation. Here, we have two options: a) to reduce the LPF bandwidth until the interference is sufficiently suppressed. and b) to shift the LO frequencies away from the respective sub-band center frequencies until the interference has been pushed out of the receiver passband. The wideband spectral occupation of UWB pulses results in the transmitted energy being spread quite evenly across the transmission band. Hence, shifting the LO frequency away from the center frequency does not significantly reduce the received pulse energy. However, since the LPF has been designed to have a sharp 5th order roll-off, the interference is greatly attenuated. For optimal compromise between signal energy collection (and hence sensitivity) and interference rejection, the LO frequency must be shifted in small steps. Hence, a DAC with a resolution of 4 bits is used to supply the control voltage to the QVCO to achieve an equivalent least significant bit (LSB) LO step size of around 60 MHz.

4.3 Mathematical model for proposed receiver system

In order to fully understand the theoretical aspects of the functionality of the proposed modulation scheme and receiver architecture, we need to derive a mathematical model for the entire system. In order to do so, we first need to define the characteristics of the UWB pulse that will be used for modulation. In this thesis, we utilize a traditional monocycle Gaussian pulse, which is the second order derivative of Gaussian function as shown in Fig.4.3.

The Gaussian monocycle pulse (GMP) signal can be expressed mathematically as [3]:

$$p(t) = A \left[1 - 4\pi \left(\frac{t}{T_d}\right)^2 \right] e^{-2\pi \left(\frac{t}{T_d}\right)^2}$$
(4.1)



where T_d is half of the pulse width and A is the amplitude scaling factor.

Fig. 4.3 Gaussian monocycle pulse in time domain



Fig. 4.4 Analytical UWB dual FSK system model

The entire I-UWB system is modeled as shown in Fig. 4.4

We define the carrier signal as

$$\mathbf{c}_i(t) = C \cos \omega_i t \,, \, i=1, 2 \tag{4.2}$$

where *C* is the carrier amplitude and i=1 when $d_i(t) = 0$ and i=2 when $d_i(t) = 1$ representing Band1 and Band2 modulation respectively. Therefore the transmitted modulated data is,

$$T_i(t) = Pp(t) c_i(t+\phi) \tag{4.3}$$

$$= PCp(t)\cos(\omega_t t + \phi) \tag{4.4}$$

where p(t) is the GMP train of Eq. (4.1). The received pulse at the receiver input can be written as,

$$r_i(t) = D T_i(t-\tau) + n_i(t) + I(t)$$
(4.5)

$$= D PC p(t-\tau) \cos(\omega_i t + \phi - \varepsilon) + n_i(t) + I \cos \omega_{int} t$$
(4.6)

$$= Kp(t-\tau)\cos(\omega_i t + \phi') + n_i(t) + I\cos\omega_{int}t$$
(4.7)

where $\varepsilon = \frac{\tau}{\omega_i}$, $\phi' = \phi - \varepsilon$ and K = D PC

Let the 2 discrete QVCO output tones corresponding to each band be

$$LO_{i}(t) = L\cos(\omega_{n}t + \theta), \tag{4.8}$$

where n=1,2 and $\omega_1 \in Band1$ and $\omega_2 \in Band2$

After mixing, the down-converted pulse train can be represented as,

$$v_I(t) = r_i(t) LO_i(t) \tag{4.9}$$

$$=L r_i(t)\cos(\omega_n t + \theta) \tag{4.10}$$

$$= \frac{LK}{2} p(t-\tau)(\cos[(\omega_i + \omega_n)t + \theta + \phi'] + (\cos[(\omega_i - \omega_n)t + \theta - \phi'])) + IL[\cos(\omega_{int} + \omega_n)t + \cos(\omega_{int} - \omega_n)t]$$
(4.11)

And similarly,

$$v_Q(t) = L r_i(t) \cos(\omega_n t + \theta + 90^0)$$

$$(4.12)$$

$$=L r_i(t)\sin(\omega_n t + \theta) \tag{4.13}$$

$$= \frac{LK}{2} p(t-\tau)(\sin[(\omega_i + \omega_n)t + \theta + \phi'] - (\sin[(\omega_i - \omega_n)t + \theta - \phi']) + IL[\sin(\omega_{int} + \omega_n)t - \sin(\omega_{int} - \omega_n)t]$$
(4.14)

The filter bandwidth, ω_{LPF} is tuned such that,

$$\omega_{i+}\omega_{n} \pm 0.3 \text{GHz} > \omega_{LPF} \quad \& \quad \omega_{i-}\omega_{n} \pm 0.3 \text{GHz} < \omega_{LPF} \tag{4.15}$$

$$|\omega_{int} - \omega_n| > \omega_{LPF} \tag{4.16}$$

where the bandwidth of p(t) is assumed to be 0.6 GHZ for Eq. (4.15). Assuming for simplicity that the LO frequency is matched to the carrier exactly so that $\omega_i = \omega_n$ for [i,n]=[1,1] or [2,2], then after low pass filtering, the I and Q signals become,

When [i,n] = [1,1] or [2,2],

$$f_I(t) = \frac{LK}{2} p(t-\tau)\cos(\theta - \phi')$$
(4.17)

$$f_{\mathcal{Q}}(t) = -\frac{LK}{2} p(t-\tau)\sin(\theta - \phi')$$
(4.18)

And when [*i*,*n*]=[1,2] or [2,1],

$$f_I(t) = f_Q(t) = 0 \tag{4.19}$$

After Squaring and adding the I and Q branch signals, we have,

When n=1 and i=1 OR n=2 and i=2,

$$s_i(t) = [A_2 f_I(t)^2 + A_2 f_Q(t)^2]$$
(4.20)

$$= \left[\frac{A_2 L K}{2}\right]^2 \left[p(t-\tau)\right]^2 \tag{4.21}$$

After the demodulated signal undergoes a comparison operation with a pre-determined threshold voltage level VT_{comp} , the following output to the baseband processor is as follows

$$bb_{i}(t) = \begin{cases} 1.8V, & \text{if } b_{i}(t) > VT_{comp} \\ 0V, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(4.22)

We can see from the preceding analysis that the phase mismatch between the LO template and the received pulse train does not affect the overall demodulation performance of the receiver and hence no synchronization is required between transmitter and receiver. We further see that by tuning ω_{LPF} to meet the conditions stated in Eq. (4.15), (4.16), robust demodulation can be achieved even in the presence of strong inband interferers.

Chapter 5

Receiver Building Blocks design

No matter how theoretically sound a receiver structure is, its overall performance is still largely dependant on the merits of the design of its constituent circuit blocks. In this chapter, the designs of all the required blocks needed for overall integration are discussed. Particular attention is given to the design of the LNA, mixer, DAC, squarer, comparator and other baseband blocks. The remaining building blocks necessary for the receiver, the conventional 3-stage LNA, QVCO and LPF were designed by other group members and are briefly reviewed for better understanding of the entire system.

In this thesis, all circuit and integration level simulations are performed in the Agilent Advanced Design System (ADS) environment and are based on the 0.18µm CMOS technology device models provided by the Chartered Semiconductor Manufacturing (CSM). All packaging and bonding models and are included in simulation and are based on the in-house facilities provided at the Institute of Microelectronics, Singapore (IME).

5.1 Low Noise Amplifier

The low noise amplifier (LNA) is the first RF block in any wireless receiver. It serves to increase the signal to noise ratio (SNR) and to suppress noise. This can be understood better by studying the famous Friis formula which is used to calculate the total Noise Factor, F_{total} of a cascaded system as

$$F_{total} = F_1 + \frac{F_2 - 1}{G_1} + \frac{F_3 - 1}{G_1 G_2} + \frac{F_4 - 1}{G_1 G_2 G_3} + \dots$$
(5.1)

where $F_{1,2...}$ and $G_{1,2..}$ represent the noise factor and gain of stage 1,2.. respectively.From Eq. (5.1), we can see that as the first stage, the noise figure of the LNA is the most dominant term in the overall receiver NF. Moreover, high LNA gain is essential to mitigate the effect of other noisy stages of the system. Hence, the LNA performance plays a major role in determining the overall system's minimum detectable signal level. Other considerations in LNA design are good linearity so as to achieve large signal accommodation without distortion, and impedance matching to the input source (usually an antenna) over the desired frequency range. This chapter starts with a review of conventional wideband LNA designs. In the second section, a novel low power UWB LNA structure utilizing area efficient active inductors is proposed and its merits are compared to other recent works. Finally, the structure of a more conventional 3 stage current reuse LNA that is utilized for implementation in the receiver architecture discussed in the previous sections is shown.

5.1.1 Commonly used wideband LNA topologies

The starting point for any LNA design is the choosing of the correct architecture for the specific application. In wide band designs, one of the most important considerations is to obtain wideband impedance matching without degrading the Noise Figure (NF). Several LNA topologies have been discussed in the past to achieve this and Fig 5.1 shows some of the most common ones.

Fig. 5.1(a) shows a simple 50Ω resistive termination approach for input matching. However, despite its simplicity, this approach is seldom used because of the unacceptably high NF caused by the fact that the resistor thermal noise is added straight to the input terminal and also because the resistive termination causes signal attenuation.



Fig. 5.1 Common LNA topologies (a) Resistive termination (b) Common gate (c) Shunt-series Feedback. (d) Common source with inductive degeneration

Fig. 5.1(b) shows a Common Gate (CG) LNA topology. The input impedance is

$$Z_{in,CG} = \frac{r_o}{1 + (g_m + g_{mb})r_o} \approx \frac{1}{(g_m + g_{mb})}$$
(5.2)

where r_o is the output resistance of transistor. The noise factor can be written as

$$F \ge 1 + \frac{\gamma}{\alpha} \frac{1}{g_m R_s} \tag{5.3}$$

where R_s is the input source resistance, γ is a constant determined by technology and has value of 2/3 for long channel devices in saturation (γ is larger and takes a value between 2 and 3 in short channel devices), and $\alpha = g_m / g_{d0}$ [19].

This topology does not suffer from the Miller effect and from Eq. (5.1) it is obvious that Z_{in} is independent of the effect of parasitics associated with the MOSFET. The desired source impedance can be easily matched over a wide bandwidth by changing the g_m of the transistor alone and hence complex input matching networks are not required. Moreover, the input matching circuit has a quite low Q factor which results in stability against variation of passive components. However, in order to achieve 50Ω input matching in this topology, g_m must have a value of about 20mS which is rather high and requires a large biasing current to drive the transistor which inevitably results in an increase in the total power consumption. Assuming perfect input matching, the minimum noise factor of common gate LNA is obtained as $F \ge 1 + \frac{\gamma}{\alpha} \approx 3dB$ (for $\alpha = 0.85$).

For the shunt feedback amplifier shown in Fig. 5.1(c), the input resistance is

$$Z_{in,SFB} = \frac{R_F + R_L || r_o}{1 + g_m (R_L || r_o)}$$
(5.4)

and the associated 3-dB bandwidth of the stage is

$$\omega_{-3dB} = \frac{(1+A_v)}{R_F(C_{gs} + (1+A_v)C_{gd})}$$
(5.5)

From Eq. (5.4), we can see that this topology can achieve similar broadband matching performance to the CG topology but without having to resort to prohibitively large bias currents by using smaller values of R_F which leads to an increase in overall bandwidth (Eq. (5.5)). But this comes at the cost of increased NF [20]. Moreover, the shunt-resistor in this topology causes the input common mode voltage to be fixed with the output voltage and hence the input transistor cannot be optimally biased for gain performance.

In the common source topology with source degeneration shown in Fig. 5.1(d), the 50 Ω input resistance is obtained by adding a series inductor L_s to the source terminal of the input transistor to resonate out the gate capacitance of the transistor leaving only a

resistive component. In Figure 5.2, the small signal model of CS amplifier with degeneration inductor is shown. The input resistance of common source LNA is expressed as

$$Z_{in,CS} = s(L_s + L_g) + \frac{1}{sC_{gs}} + (\frac{g_m}{C_{gs}})L_s \approx s(L_s + L_g) + \frac{1}{sC_{gs}} + \omega_T L_s$$
(5.6)



Fig. 5.2 Small signal model of a source degeneration amplifier

At resonant frequency,

$$s(L_s + L_g) + \frac{1}{sC_{gs}} = 0$$
(5.7)

$$Z_{in,CS} = \left(\frac{g_m}{C_{gs}}\right)L_s = \omega_T L_s = 50\Omega$$
(5.8)

The effective transconductance of this topology is:

$$G_m = g_m Q = \frac{g_m}{\omega_0 C_{gs} (R_s + \omega_T L_s)} = \frac{\omega_T}{\omega_0 R_s (1 + \frac{\omega_T L_s}{R_s})}$$
(5.9)

where ω_0 is the operation frequency, C_{gs} , ω_T and g_m are the gate source capacitor, the transition frequency and the transconductance of input transistor, respectively.

The most attractive feature of this topology is that by adding L_s , good input matching is obtained without NF deterioration because an inductor is inherently a noiseless passive device. Equation 5.9 also indicates that the effective transconductance is enhanced Q times by the pure RLC input matching network at the resonant frequency. Thus, to achieve a desired gain, this topology requires a smaller biasing current.

5.1.2 UWB LNA utilizing Active Inductor

One of the major drawbacks of wideband LNA designs is their heavy reliance on large passive inductors to achieve performance requirements like impedance matching, stability and bandwidth extension. These requirements are even harder to satisfy at the higher frequencies of operation that are required in UWB communication, which in turn causes a further increase in the number of inductors required and adversely affects chip sizes. Active inductors (AI) have been advocated for a long time as area efficient replacements for passive inductors. Several AI topologies have been presented [21], [22], [23], most of which utilize a capacitor-gyrator (C-G) structure to duplicate the required inductive properties. These designs are not only much smaller but also provide much larger quality factors (almost 8000 [21]) than passive inductors. However, most presented active inductors have very narrow-band operation ranges. Moreover, they typically require prohibitively large currents to achieve high center frequencies and moderate inductance values

In this thesis, a novel LNA utilizing AI is presented which is capable of low voltage (1V) low-power UWB applications while achieving large chip area reduction. The following section deals with the design methodology for the AI as well as the overall LNA.

5.1.2.1 Active Inductor design

The active inductor structure utilized for this work, shown in Fig. 5.3(a) has a C-G based grounded cascode topology and incorporates a modified implementation of the

feedback loss-regulation technique presented in [21]. The loss compensation is achieved through transistor M3 which creates a series negative resistance that compensates for the losses due to the other active devices in the AI. We denote the gate-source capacitance, transconductance and drain-source conductance of transistor M_X as C_{gsx} , gm_x and g_{dsx} respectively. $S(\omega)$ represents the frequency dependent admittance of C_{gs3} incorporated with the loss compensation R-C network at the gate of transistor M3. Using first order small signal analysis, the relevant AI parameters shown in Fig. 5.3(b) can be extracted:



Fig. 5.3 (a) Active inductor structure; (b) Small signal equivalent

$$L_{eq} = \frac{g_{m2}g_{m3}(C_3 + C_{gs2}) + \omega^2 C_{gs2}^2 S(\omega)}{g_{m1}g_{m2}^2 g_{m3} + \omega^2 g_{m1}g_{m3} C_{gs2}^2} \cong \frac{(C_3 + C_{gs2})}{g_{m1}g_{m2}}$$
(5.10)

$$R_{loss} = \frac{g_{m2}g_{ds1}g_{ds3} + \omega^2 [g_{m3}C_{gs2}^2 - g_{m2}C_{gs2}S(\omega)]}{g_{m1}g_{m2}^2 g_{m3} + \omega^2 g_{m1}g_{m3}C_{gs2}^2}$$
(5.11)

$$R_{in} = \frac{1}{g_{ds3}} \text{ and } C_{in} = C_{gs1}$$

Self-resonant frequency, $\omega_0 = \sqrt{\frac{g_{m1}g_{m2}}{C_{gs1}(C_3 + C_{gs2})}}$ (5.12)

At self-resonant frequency ω_0 , the quality factor can be written as

$$QF = \frac{\omega_0 L_{eq}}{R_{loss}} \cong \sqrt{\frac{g_{m1}g_{m2}g_{m3}^{2}(C_3 + C_{gs2})}{C_{gs1}g_{ds1}^{2}g_{ds3}^{2}}}$$
(5.13)

Fig. 2 shows the typical performance of the presented AI at UWB frequencies. From (5.11) we see that the RC network makes the series negative resistance created due to M3, and hence the R_{loss} , frequency dependent. By tuning the RC network, we can shape the total resistive loss of the AI and consequently control the value and peaking frequency of its QF independently of the ω_0 and L_{eq} as shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 5.4 High frequency performance of the active inductor

From Eq. (5.10), (5.12) and (5.13), we see that there also exists a strong interdependence between the L_{eq} , ω_0 and QF based primarily on the values of the transconductances and gate capacitances of M1 and M2. For high frequency gain peaking in the LNA, the active inductor needs to be designed for a moderately high inductance (4nH-6nH) with a moderately low QF (15-20) for gain flatness. This is achieved by first increasing the bias current I_I to raise g_{mI} , and as a result raise the ω_0 to the desired value. The corresponding undesired rise in the QF can then be lowered by tuning the R-C loss compensation circuit to reduce the negative series resistance. Finally, by selecting a suitable *C3* to increase the total gate to source capacitance of M2, the relatively large L_{eq} that is desired can be achieved without increasing M2 sizing or the current drawn from I_2 .

5.1.2.2 LNA design

Fig. 3 shows the overall LNA schematic. It consists of two inductively peaked common source stages followed by a common-drain source-follower output stage. Both peaking inductors are implemented as active inductors. One big advantage of this structure is that it allows the reuse of the large drain currents of the amplification transistors, M4 and M5 through one branch of each active inductor. This equivalently removes the need for current source I_2 in Fig. 1(a) and hence results in substantial power savings.

a) Input and Output matching

Due to overall noise performance considerations, a passive inductor, L_{gl} was used in the input matching network for the source degenerated first stage. From Eq. (5.6), we see that by choosing appropriate values of L_{gl} and L_{sl} , low NF and reasonable input matching can be concurrently achieved. According to these considerations, the calculated values of the source degeneration inductances for both stages, Ls_l and Ls_2 are very small (0.25nH and 0.4nH) and hence are implemented using transmission lines. The source follower output stage is necessary to provide a 50 Ω output match for testing purposes. The calculated output impedance is:

$$Zout = \frac{1}{(g_{m8} + \frac{1}{r_{o7}} + \frac{1}{r_{o8}})}$$
(5.14)



Fig. 5.5 Overall three stage LNA schematic

b) Gain

In order to utilize the higher QF that can be achieved by the active inductor without compromising the overall gain flatness of the LNA, a cascaded LNA topology is chosen where the two stages are optimized with a peaked gain around the lower and upper corner frequencies of our target bandwidth. Due to the NF and linearity considerations which are discussed in more detail in the related reference [24], the ω_0 for the first and second stage, $\omega_{0,1}$ and $\omega_{0,2}$ are chosen to cause the stages to peak near the lower (3GHz) and upper (5GHz) corner frequencies respectively so that when cascaded, an overall wideband gain is achievable. The gain of the first stage can be calculated approximately as:

$$G_{CS} = \frac{g_{m4}R_{eff} (1 + s\frac{L_{d1}}{R_{eff}})}{(s^2 L_{d1}C_{eff} + sR_{eff}C_{eff} + 1)(1 + g_{m4}sL_{s1})}$$
(5.15)



Fig. 5.5 (a) Individual and staggered stage gains (b) Measured (---) and simulated (---) S21 and S11 (c) Measured Noise Figure (d) Measured Linearity

where L_{dI} is the active inductance, $R_{eff} = R_D + R_{inAI}$ is the total drain resistance of M4 and C_{eff} is the total load capacitance being driven by the stage. The second stage has similar gain characteristics but it also utilizes a cascode transistor M6 to increase isolation and boost high frequency gain by reducing the Miller feedback capacitance. Fig. 5.5(a) shows the gain peaking of the two stages individually and their overall wide-band response in the cascaded topology. The gain of the source follower causes significant (7-8dB) signal attenuation but has been included to facilitate the testing of the device using low impedance measurement devices.

c) Measurement Results

The measured S-parameters are shown overlaid with the simulated results in Fig. 5(b). The measured power gain (S21) has a peak value of 15.1dB and -3dB passband from 3.25GHz to 4.8GHz while the measured input return loss (S11) is less than -7.2dB across the bandwidth. The bond wires to the LNA supply appear in series with the AI and hence add to the load inductances $L_{d1/2}$. In order to minimize this added loading, multiple pads are provided for the supply voltage so that several bond wires can be utilized in parallel in order to minimize the unwanted loading inductance. However, the additional pads add parasitic capacitive loading and together with the finite bond wire inductances cause the effective resonant frequencies of the two stages to be slightly lower than simulated which causes the high frequency gain to roll-off in measurement as seen in Fig. 5(b). The measured noise figure, shown in Fig. 5(c), is between 4.95dB and 6.1dB throughout the passband. A two tone test was used to measure the linearity of the LNA at 3.5, 4 and 4.5GHz and Fig. 5(d) shows the average linearity trend with a measured IIP3 of -23dB. The degradation in LNA linearity can be partially explained by the inevitable shrinking of headroom due to the reduced supply voltage of 1V. The die photo of the LNA with biasing circuits is shown in Appendix A. The LNA core occupies only 0.05mm² die area while drawing 7.1mA current from a 1V supply. Due to the current reuse technique used, the additional currents required for AI implementation, $II_1 \& II_2$ are only 125µA & 200µA respectively which constitutes a very small increase in power consumption. A summary of the LNA performance in comparison with other published LNA structures using AI is shown in Table I.

Author(s)	Technology	Centre freq.	3-dB Bandwidth	Gain (dB)	NF (dB)	IIP3 (dBm)	Power (mW)	Area (mm ²)
Zhuo et al. [25] *	0.5µm CMOS	1 GHz	N/A***	20.5	3.65	-17	14	0.08 **
Sharaf [26] *	0.5µm CMOS	900 MHz	500 MHz	12.2	3.1	-21	17	N/A***
Pascht <i>et al.</i> [27] *	0.3µm CMOS	2.4 GHz	250 MHz	19.2	2.5	N/A***	40.8	0.6
Yang et al. [28]*	0.35µm CMOS	1.75 GHz	30 MHz	24	N/A***	N/A***	9.3	0.03
This work [24]	0.18µm CMOS	4 GHz	1.55 GHz	15.1	4.95 to 6.1	-23	7.1	0.05

Table I: Comparison of presented work with other published LNA designs with Active Inductors

* Simulation only, ** Estimated area, *** Not reported

5.1.3 3-stage current reuse UWB LNA

Even though the proposed active inductor based LNA is far superior to traditional LNA architectures in terms of chip area, it does suffer from poorer NF and linearity performance. The fact that the presented structure has been optimized for low voltage application (1V) is a further hindrance to eventual integration with a system with a 1.8V supply voltage. Since the Dual FSK quadrature receiver of this thesis is such a system and places a premium on high LNA gain without significant loss in NF and linearity performance, after careful consideration a more traditional LNA architecture using passive inductors was used for integration in the receiver chain at the cost of significantly larger chip area. It must be noted that although the active inductor based LNA is not optimally suited to perform as the first amplification stage in a sensitive receiver chain, it still has great potential as an area efficient second wideband gain stage in cascade with a more conventional first stage. In this way, its poor NF can be suppressed by the first stage gain while a higher supply voltage (1.8V) will inevitably improve linearity. This approach will be used in future versions of this receiver once the overall functionality has been confirmed.

Fig. 5.6 shows the schematic of the utilized LNA architecture. It implements a 3-stage

current reuse architecture with inductive peaking for bandwidth expansion. It employs a common gate input stage and hence does not require an input matching network. The output impedance is optimized to match the input impedance of the mixer loads rather than 50Ω . The last stage performs a single to differential operation on the amplified UWB pulse train. This LNA has a simulated voltage gain of 38 dB, NF of 4.2dB, OIP3 of 9dBm with better than -10dB input and output matching.



Fig. 5.6 3-stage current reuse UWB LNA

5.2 UWB Mixer

Mixers are some of the most commonly used RF components. They are non-linear devices used in systems to trans-late (multiply) one frequency to another. All mixer types work on the principle that a large Local Oscillator (LO) drive will cause switching so that the incoming RF signal is modulated to the Intermediate Frequency (IF). In this thesis, we will only be discussing the down-conversion mixer where a high frequency wide-band UWB pulse (RF) is down-converted by a large QVCO output signal (LO) to a pulse with the same bandwidth but centered on or near DC (IF). Some mixer parameters are briefly defined below for clearer understanding of the following discussions.

Conversion Gain - This is the ratio (in dB) between the IF signal and the RF signal. **Double sideband (DSB) mixing** - This assumes that both signal and noise are present in the upper and lower sidebands of the carrier. Importantly, $NF_{DSB} = NF_{SSB} - 3 dB$ **Linearity** – Defined by the 1dB compression point of the IF with respect to RF power **Double balanced (DB) mixer** – This refers to mixer architectures where the DC components of the RF and LO signals are totally cancelled.

There are various mixer topographies from simple single ended, single balanced mixers to more complicated double & triple balanced mixers that provide better isolation from the Local Oscillator (LO) and spurious. This chapter will start by examining two of the most popular mixer structures in use today, the Gate-source injection mixer and the Gilbert cell mixer. Next, a hybrid mixer structure is studied that combines the benefits of these two traditional architectures, which makes it ideally suited for application in the overall UWB receiver system.

5.2.1 Gate-source injection mixer

The gate-source injection (GSI) mixer is one of the simplest 4 quadrant mixer structures and is shown in Fig. 5.7(a). Fig. 5.7(b) shows the 4 quadrant cancellation scheme that is employed by this mixer.



Fig. 5.7 (a) Gate source mixer architecture (b) Associated 4 quadrant cancellation scheme

Representing the RF and LO signals for convenience as $X \pm x$ and $Y \pm y$. and assuming that the square law device represented in the scheme of Fig. 5.7(b) is a MOSFET in saturation, then the following analysis holds

$$I_{1} = \frac{1}{2} k_{n} \frac{W}{L} [C + (x - y)]^{2}$$
(5.16)

$$I_2 = \frac{1}{2}k_n \frac{w}{L} [C + (-x - y)]^2$$
(5.17)

$$I_1 = \frac{1}{2}k_n \frac{W}{L} [C + (-x + y)]^2$$
(5.18)

$$I_1 = \frac{1}{2}k_n \frac{W}{L} [C + (x+y)]^2$$
(5.19)

where $k_n = \mu_n C_{ox}$ and $C = X - Y - V_t$ and $\frac{W}{L}$ is the aspect ratio of M_{1,2,3,4}

$$I_{out} = (I_2 + I_4) - (I_1 + I_3)$$
(5.20)

$$I_{out} = 4k_n \frac{W}{L} xy \tag{5.21}$$

$$V_{out} = 4k_n \frac{W}{L} xy(R + j\omega L)$$
(5.22)

We see that by properly biasing the transistors to be in saturation, the square law properties of the MOSFET can be utilized to implement the cancellation scheme described above leaving only the desired mixed product (Eq. (5.22)).

5.2.2 Gilbert Cell mixer

The Gilbert cell mixer is by far the most common mixer architecture in use today. It was introduced in 1968 [29] and its popularity and longevity to this day is a testament to its superior design. Fig. 5.8 shows the basic DB Gilbert cell architecture. The structure is very similar to the GSI mixer described above and can be broken down into 3 main parts, RF transconductance stage (M1, M2), LO switch pairs (M3-M6) and the shunt peaking load (R-L series combination).



Fig. 5.8 Gilbert cell mixer architecture

The RF signal is applied to the gate of transistors M1 & M2 which perform a voltage to current conversion. For correct operation these devices should be biased and sized to remain in the linear region and so RF signals considerably less than the 1dB compression point should be used. Performance can be improved by adding degeneration resistors to the source terminals of M1 & M2 but these cause a loss in the conversion gain and are omitted in this design. FETs M3 to M6 provide the switching function controlled by the LO signal. By doing this they channel the RF current through the two loads at the LO frequency and hence implement the multiplication function. For proper operation, the LO signal swing must be large enough to completely switch M3-M6 on and off.

5.2.3 Hybrid Mixer

In the previous section, we have seen two similar mixing techniques, one implementing voltage mixing and the other current mixing. But in both these structures, in order to achieve high conversion gain while maintaining the large operating bandwidth required in UWB systems, the transconductances of the M1 and M2 need to be increased resulting in unacceptably large power consumption. The benefits of hybrid structures for increasing conversion gain and bandwidth have been previously shown for multiplier applications in [30]. In this thesis, a hybrid mixer structure, shown in Fig.5.9 which incorporates both the Gilbert cell and GSI mixers together without raising the power consumption is shown.

It uses a flipped voltage follower (FVF) to feed the RF signal to the drain of M11 and M12 in order to implement the voltage mixing operation of the GSI mixer. The FVF is used instead of the more conventional source follower because its sourcing ability is relatively independent on the biasing current source [31]. Moreover, the current flowing



Fig. 5.9 Hybrid mixer architecture

through transistor M1 and M3 is not dependent on the output current as is the case in the source follower. This means that FVF causes smaller attenuation (-2dB) than the source follower (-5dB) at high frequencies even when driving small loads. To increase the mixer bandwidth, shunt peaking inductor loads (250Ω and 2.65nH) are used to cancel the dominant pole of the system and hence boost the conversion gain at high frequencies. To further extend the bandwidth, the second dominant pole location, which occurs due to the capacitance at the output node of the FVF, needs to be pushed to higher frequencies. FETs M9 and M10 are biased in the linear region and act like resistors in the signal path, and are used to reposition the non-dominant pole of the system [30].

The optimum LO signal level for maximum conversion gain was found through simulation to be between -2dBm to 5dBm and in this case, Fig. 5.10 shows the overall conversion gain of the mixer to be greater than 5.5 dB over the entire 3.1-4.8 GHz

bandwidth. Fig. 5.11(a)–(c) show the isolation performance of the mixer to be adequate to avoid adverse LO or RF leakage. With a high gain LNA preceding it, the 11dB NF shown in Fig. 5.11(d) will be suppressed significantly and hence is acceptable.







Fig. 5.11 (a) LO-RF Isolation (b) RF-IF Isolation (c) LO-IF Isolation (d) Noise Figure

5.3 Quadrature VCO



Fig. 5.12 QVCO structure

The QVCO used to generate the LO tones for this project is a cross-coupled L-C tank VCO as shown in Fig. 5.12. The structure consists of 2 oscillator cores for the differential I and Q tone generation. In each core the complimentary switching pairs are connected in a cascode structure with the cross-coupled transistor pairs (M_3/M_4 , M_5/M_6 , M_{11}/M_{12} , and M_{13}/M_{14}) in order to enhance the phase noise performance [32].

The oscillation frequency, f_{osc} of this L-C resonant QVCO is determined by the tank inductors (L₁, L₂) and varactor capacitances (C_{varl} / C_{var2} and C_{var3} / C_{var4}) as,

$$f_{osc} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC_{eff}}}$$
(5.23)

where C_{eq} is the overall capacitance present in the tank. Hence by using an external tuning voltage to change the varactor capacitance, the f_{osc} can be tuned dynamically. The QVCO is capable of providing more than 900MHz tuning range (3.5 – 4.4 GHz) in the required UWB bandwidth for tuning voltage ranging from 0V - 1.8V with LO signal strength greater than 800 mV peak-peak. The I-Q signal phase mismatch is less than 3° and the VCO jitter is less than 20ps.

5.4 R-2R Digital to Analog Converter

The DAC is a device used to convert a fixed point *N*-bit binary number into a physical quantity, usually an electrical voltage. Normally the output voltage is a linear function of the input number. In the receiver application discussed in this thesis, the DAC is used to produce a control voltage that is used to tune the QVCO over its entire tuning range. It has a 4-bit input which drives the output voltage between 0V and 1.8V, which is the desired tuning voltage range for the QVCO. Some key DAC performance parameters are briefly defined below for clearer understanding of the following discussions.

Gain Error - Distance between the theoretical and real values measured on the last transition of the converter and expressed in LSB assuming offset error has been adjusted.

Offset Error - Distance between the theoretical and real output values measured on the first transition of the converter and expressed in LSB



Fig. 5.13 (a) Gain error (b) Offset error (c) DNL representation (d) INL representation [33]

Differential Non-linearity (DNL) – DNL is computed as the difference between the analog output values corresponding to two successive input codes referred to one LSB. Integral Non-linearity (INL) – INL is the maximum difference noticed over the entire range of conversion between the theoretical values and real values

Several DAC architectures have been discussed in literature and were considered for this work like weighted resistor network DAC and segmented DAC. Weighted resistor networks are simple to design but require several different and often large resistance values which make them very susceptible to process variations [34]. A segmented DAC links 2 or more internal DACs to form one DAC of higher resolution and hence are only optimal for more than 8-bit operation. An R-2R resistor ladder DAC is chosen because it provides the best INL and DNL performance (less than 0.5 LSB) for a medium resolution DAC (less than 5 bits). Moreover, the fact that only 2 distinct and relatively small resistor values are required minimizes its total resistance [35] and this greatly reduces the errors due to mismatch and increases its process tolerance.

5.4.1 R-2R Ladder



Fig. 5.14 N-bit R-2R ladder in voltage mode

The R-2R network is one of the simplest and most effective ways of achieving accurate voltage division which is essential to the performance of a DAC. Fig. 5.14



Fig. 5.15 R-2R ladder with [0,0,...,bn = 1, 0,0... 0] input

shows an ideal N-bit R-2R ladder network where R is a discrete resistance value.

The network is controlled by an *N*-bit word $[b_1, b_2 ... b_N]$ which controls the switches that connect the 2R resistors to either V_{in} (bit value '1') or ground (bit value '0'). For the sake of simplicity, let us consider the case where only a single bit, b_n is '1' and the rest are zero. The switching caused by this input will cause the R-2R ladder to look like Fig. 5.15. We notice that the equivalent resistance seen to the left of node 'n' in Fig. 5.15, R_L is 2R for any value of *n*. Therefore, the equivalent circuit shown in Fig. 5.16 can be derived.



Fig. 5.16 R-2R ladder equivalent circuit

By repeatedly applying the Thevenin theorem on this circuit, we can easily calculate the output voltage in this case (when b_n is '1' and the rest are zero) as $V_{out} = \frac{V_{in}}{2^n}$.

Therefore the general output voltage due to bit n independent of the other bit values is

$$V_{out,n} = b_n \frac{V_{in}}{2^n}$$
, $b_n = `1' \text{ or } `0'$ (5.24)

Since the R-2R DAC is a linear device, the voltage superposition law applies, and hence the total output voltage in response to a random data input $[b_1, b_2 ... b_N]$ can be calculated as the sum of the independent output voltage contributions of each bit individually as,
$$V_{out} = \sum_{n=1}^{n=N} b_n \frac{V_{in}}{2^n} = V_{in} \sum_{n=1}^{n=N} b_n \frac{1}{2^n}$$
(5.25)

From Eqn. 5.19, we can see that the R-2R ladder can produce 2n discrete output voltages between 0V and V_{in} with a LSB step size of $\frac{V_{in}}{2^n}$.

5.4.2 Voltage mode R-2R DAC

The R-2R ladder is typically used in one of two ways to construct a DAC. Current mode exploits current division along the ladder while voltage mode is based on voltage division. However a current mode DAC would require a dual supply (negative and positive) op-amp in order to achieve functionality [36] and hence is unsuitable for our application.

Very careful attention needs to be paid to the drivability of the DAC because capacitive loads can severely deteriorate the settling time of the DAC output and low impedances can load the R-2R chain and hence affect its accuracy. In order to be able to drive the varactor load of the QVCO as required in its application in the receiver chain, the DAC is implemented as shown in Fig. 5.17 in this work. Here a high gain, low bandwidth op-amp [37] is used to drive the output load so that the R-2R output node, V_o is buffered with the large op-amp input impedance while the drivability of the op-amp output stage can charge even large capacitive loads to the correct value quickly. For proper operation, the op-amp needs to be in its correct operating region for input DC levels from 0V up to V_{in} . If V_{in} is 1.8V, then the op-amp design becomes overly difficult. In order to solve this problem, a non-inverting voltage divider op-amp configuration is used so that.

$$V_{out} = (1 + \frac{2R_b}{R_b})V_o = 3V_o$$
(5.26)

In this way, to achieve the required output range of 1.8V, V_{in} needs to be set to only 0.6V. This technique also has the added advantage of lowering the total power consumption of the DAC. Fig. 5.18(a) shows the monotonic output step response while Fig. 5.18(b) shows the maximum step (0V-1.8V) settling time of the DAC when loaded with the QVCO to be 25ns. Fig. 5.19 shows the op-amp gain and phase response.

Another critical design consideration is to choose the right 'R' value. Two factors influence this choice, the switch resistance and the settling time. Even though the switches used in this DAC were designed with large transistor sizes, they still have a small finite resistance, and hence the R value must be large to minimize the effect of the switch resistance on the R-2R ladder. But, in order to achieve fast charging of node V_o and hence minimize the settling time, R must be small. After extensive simulations, the best compromise was achieved for $R = 2.1 \text{ k}\Omega$



Fig. 5.17 Proposed R-2R ladder DAC circuit



Fig. 5.18 Loaded DAC output for (a) Monotonic step input (b) Maximum step input



Fig. 5.19 Op-amp Gain and phase response

5.5 Low-pass Filter and IF Amplifier

The low-pass filter in this application is used to extract the desired down-converted sub-band signal while rejecting the other sub-band as well as any in-band narrowband interferers to prevent ISI and improve the interference rejection capability of the receiver. In order to achieve this, the filter needs to have a large variable bandwidth for maximum signal capture as well as a sharp roll-off for maximum stop-band attenuation.

The LPF structure is implemented as a 5^{th} order Elliptic filter with one differential first order G_m -C filter stage (Fig. 5.20) and 2 differential bi-quadratic G_m -C filter stages cascaded in series.



Fig. 5.20 First order G_m-C filter



Fig. 5.21 Bi-quadratic G_m-C filter

The role of the IF amp in the receiver chain is to boost the desired filtered signal to beyond the squarer input threshold (defined in next section). In order to do so, it not only needs to provide high gain, but also achieve an overall bandwidth that is greater than the maximum filter bandwidth (300 MHz) so that no signal distortion occurs.

Fig. 5.22 shows the IF amplifier implementation used which consists of two cascaded NMOS differential gain stages. The first stage utilizes an active PMOS load (M7, M8) with common mode feedback and provides the bulk of the overall gain. The second stage is a simple differential pair with a resistive load that provides low gain and acts as a buffer to drive the next stage (squarer) without compromising the bandwidth. To achieve this, the 1st stage differential pair transistors M6, M5 as well as the active loads M7/M8 are optimized for high gain while 2nd stage input transistors M9, M10 are made very small (1 μ width) to reduce the loading capacitance seen by the 1st stage. The 2nd stage



Fig. 5.22 Intermediate Frequency (IF) Amplifier

bias current is chosen to be relatively large by sizing up the mirror transistor M2 so that it can maintain the required overall bandwidth while driving the required load at the expense of lower gain. The CMFB circuit ensures that device mismatches do not cause the output common mode to shift and saturate the subsequent stages. Fig. 5.23(a) shows that the 5th order filter has an effective tuning range of 40-300MHz with -6dB gain. The IF amplifier provides 27dB gain over 330MHz bandwidth. Fig. 5.23(b) shows the frequency response of the Filter + IF Amplifier combination with 21dB overall gain.



Fig. 5.23 Frequency response of (a) 5th order Elliptic LPF (b) Filter + IF Amplifier

5.6 Squarer

The squarer is essentially a multiplier in which both inputs are fed the same signal. In I-UWB applications, the squarer is most commonly used in the non-coherent autocorrelation receiver to perform the correlation function. But, in this application, the role of the squarer is to enable the removal of the phase mismatch between the transmitted carrier and the locally generated LO template as discussed in section 4.3. Another key difference in this application is that the squarer input bandwidth does not need to be extended to accommodate UWB pulses. In this application, the squarer input is the filtered output of the LPF and hence an input bandwidth greater than the maximum LPF passband (300MHz) is sufficient.

In order to implement the multiplication function, the same four quadrant cancellation schemes that are mentioned in section 5.2 apply and hence the Gilbert cell architecture mentioned in section 5.2.2 is used in this block as well because of its proven robustness. The schematic of the squarer architecture is shown in Fig 5.24.



Fig. 5.24 Squarer architecture

Following a similar analysis and nomenclature as that of section 5.2, we can calculate the total multiplied output current of the squarer as [38]

$$I_{total} = I_{out+} - I_{out-} = (I_4 - I_3) + (I_6 - I_5)$$
(5.27)

Assuming
$$\frac{\mu_n C_{ox}}{2} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{3,4,5,6} = k_A$$
 and $\frac{\mu_n C_{ox}}{2} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{1,2} = k_B$,

$$I_{total} = 2k_B x \left[\sqrt{\frac{k_A}{k_B} \left(\sqrt{\frac{2I_{bias}}{k_A} - 2x^2} - \sqrt{2}x \right)^2 + 2x^2} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{k_B}{k_A} \sqrt{\frac{2I_{bias}}{k_B} - 2x^2} - \sqrt{2}x \right)^2 - 2x^2} \right]$$
(5.28)

where I_{bias} is the DC bias current of M1 and M2. Assuming x and y are small, $I_{total} = 4\sqrt{2}k_A x^2$ (5.29)

Now let
$$V_{out} = I_{total} \times R_{load} = A_{sq} x^2$$
 (5.30)

where R_{load} is the load impedance and A_{sq} is defined as the squarer gain. Since we know that a wide bandwidth gain function is not needed for this application, the R_{load} is implemented as a PMOS active load pair (M7, M8) with common mode feedback to increase the achievable gain. The gain is maximized by making M3-M6 large to raise k_A and M1, M2 small to lower I_{bias} and hence increase the active load impedance. However, the gain cannot be increased indiscriminately because as gain increases the output bandwidth decreases causing significant signal spreading which will badly distort the pulse shape. In this design, an A_{sq} of 65 and output bandwidth of approximately 210 MHz was achieved with a total current consumption of 2.3 mA. Fig. 5.25 shows the transient response of the squarer output with a filtered pulse train input.

From Eq. (5.30) we can see that for small input values the squaring function causes a significant reduction in the signal swing. Hence, we can define the squarer input

threshold. V_{Tsq} as the minimum signal level at which the squarer can operate without attenuating the input signal.

$$V_{out} = A_{sq} V_{Tsq}^{2} \ge V_{Tsq} \text{. Therefore } V_{Tsq} \ge \frac{1}{A_{sq}} = \frac{1}{65} = 15.4 mV$$
(5.31)
$$\underbrace{\mathsf{m6}}_{\mathsf{time}=30.17\mathsf{nsec}}_{\mathsf{var}("Vfil_l+")-\mathsf{var}("Vfil_l-")=0.132} \\ \underbrace{\mathsf{m6}}_{\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf{var}("Square-")=0.983} \\ \underbrace{\mathsf{m6}}_{\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf{var}("Square-")=0.983} \\ \underbrace{\mathsf{m6}}_{\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf{var}("Square-")=0.983} \\ \underbrace{\mathsf{m6}}_{\mathsf{var}("Square+")-\mathsf$$

Fig. 5.25 Squarer transient response with a filtered pulse train input

5.7 Differential to Single-ended (D-S) converter

Up till now all receiver components have been differential in nature. But the comparator used in this work is a single input device and hence a D-S converter is required. The role of this block is not only to convert the signal but also to amplify it beyond the switching threshold of the comparator so that the right demodulated data can be generated. Since the inputs pulse train to this block has already been squared, it only has an upswing and hence it is essential to make sure that the output common mode level of this stage of the D-S converter is as low as possible to allow maximum output signal swing.

Fig. 5.26 shows the schematic of the D-S converter which is implemented as a PMOS differential pair with active NMOS loads. The differential gain of this stage, A_v can be written as:

$$A_{v} = g_{m PMOS} \frac{r_{oNMOS}}{2}$$
(5.32)

In order to get a low output common mode voltage, relatively large NMOS load transistors are used and the resulting loss in gain is made up by optimizing the PMOS differential pair sizes and the biasing current. This block consumes 0.8mA current and provides 16dB gain while maintaining an output common mode voltage of 480 mV.



Fig. 5.26 Differential to Single-ended converter

5.8 Comparator

The comparator is the last stage in the receiver chain and is responsible for converting the demodulated analog signal to a non return to zero (NRZ) pulse train. Although in traditional circuits, an Analog to Digital converter (ADC) is used for this purpose, it is unsuitable in I-UWB receiver applications because even after down-conversion and pulse spreading effects of low-pass filtering, the width of the input pulse to the comparator is still too narrow and would require an unreasonably fast ADC for Nyquist rate sampling. The comparator used in this thesis is based on the classic Schmitt trigger circuit shown in Fig 5.27(a). The Schmitt trigger is a dual threshold comparator circuit that incorporates positive feedback to achieve its hysterisis properties. The main benefit of a Schmitt trigger over a fixed threshold comparator is greater stability (noise immunity). With only one input threshold, a noisy input signal near that threshold could cause the output to switch rapidly back and forth due to noise alone. The Schmitt trigger on the other hand has memory and holds its state until a significant deviation, which is designed to be greater than the noise level, is reached. By doing so, it helps to clean up the noisy signal before it is fed to the baseband processor.

The Schmitt trigger design is governed by the device sizes of M1-M4 where M3 and M4 effectively move the switching voltage of the inverter formed my M1 and M2 while the last stage inverter provides positive feedback that gives this circuit its 'memory'. In the case where V_{in} is '0', at steady state, $V_X = '1'$ and $V_{out} = '0'$ and hence only transistors M2 and M4 are on. As V_{in} starts to rise, transistors M1 and M2 start to turn on and off respectively but M4 remains in strong saturation. Therefore the switching voltage of node X, V_{M+} and consequently the output is determined by the ratio

$$\frac{\mu_p C_{ox} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{M4}}{\mu_n C_{ox} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{M1}}.$$
 Similarly, V_{M} is determined by the ratio $\frac{\mu_n C_{ox} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{M3}}{\mu_p C_{ox} \left(\frac{W}{L}\right)_{M2}}.$ Therefore, by

sizing M3 and M4 appropriately, the hysterisis shown in Fig. 5.27 (a) can be achieved.

Fig. 5.28 shows the overall schematic of the comparator used in this work. It consists of the Schmitt trigger of Fig. 5.27(a) with a 4-stage inverter chain to drive the large capacitive load (10pF) presented by the measuring equipment. The chain is designed to present a small input capacitance to the Schmitt trigger (500fF) and drive a load of 10pF and optimized to achieve the smallest propagation delay. This leads to a calculated fanout factor of 2.11 (approximated as 2) for a 4 stage design [39].

Fig. 5.29(a) shows the overall hysterisis characteristics of the designed comparator with V_{M^+} of 1.077 V and V_{M^-} of 365mV while Fig. 5.29(b) shows a rise time of 730 ps, fall time of 630 ps and propagation delay of approximately 550 ps.



Fig. 5.27 (a) CMOS Schmitt trigger and (b) associated hysterisis characteristics



Fig. 5.28 Schmitt trigger with 4-stage inverter chain



Fig. 5.29 (a) Comparator hysterisis and (b) propagation delays

Chapter 6

System Integration and Simulation results

The Dual-band UWB FSK quadrature receiver architecture was discussed in Chapter 4 and the design of all its components was discussed in Chapter 5. In order to integrate the components so as to achieve the expected performance, careful attention needs to be paid to factors such as inter-stage matching, loading and parasitics introduced by packaging and transmission lines. These and other integration issues will be discussed in the following sections. The first section explains the detailed system simulation setup used and the in the next section, some key layout considerations that were observed for on-chip integration are discussed. In the final detailed simulation results for the entire receiver are presented together with measured results for key sub-blocks, the RF front end as well as the integrated receiver.

6.1 System Simulation setup

Fig. 6.1 and Fig. 6.2 show the system simulation setup used for the front-end and back-end respectively. For simulation, an external UWB monocycle pulse generator block and a -80dB attenuator are used to model the transmitter and channel respectively as shown in Fig. 6.1. The LNA amplifies and performs single-ended to differential conversion on the input pulse train. As mentioned in Chapter 4, the LNA is optimized to drive the 2 mixer loads and the LNA output is connected to the mixers using AC coupling (series capacitors). The 4-bit DAC output voltage is connected directly to the varactor tuning node and the required LO quadrature tones are produced and used for the mixing.



Fig. 6.1 System front-end simulation setup



Fig. 6.2 System back-end simulation setup

An important feature of this circuit is that due to the wideband nature of the downconverted signal, AC coupling is utilized at the mixer output and hence any self mixing DC offsets are removed after down-conversion with only minor signal loss. This is a significant advantage over traditional direct conversion receivers discussed in Chapter 3.

In Fig. 6.2, we see that after the down-converted signal has been filtered, the squared differential outputs of the I and Q branch squarers are added by summing the respective currents and dropping them across a common active load. Therefore, the combined differential squarer outputs correspond to $I_{square+}+Q_{square+}$ and $I_{square-}+Q_{square-}$. The signal is subsequently D-S converted and the comparator finally produces the NRZ pulse train corresponding to the desired sub-band data, thereby completing the FSK demodulation. As shown in Fig. 6.2, all external loads expected during measurement have also been included in the simulations. AC coupling has been incorporated in every inter-stage connection. However, larger coupling capacitor sizes were used in the latter stages to preserve the signal integrity.

6.2 Layout considerations

In order to minimize the non-ideal effects of process variation, substrate noise coupling and high frequency signal coupling, careful attention was paid to the layout of the receiver chip. The die photo for the integrated front end is shown in Appendix B while the layout of the fully integrated receiver system is shown in Appendix C. The following is a list of major considerations and techniques used in the layout of the receiver.

- Common-centroid technique and geometrically symmetric layout is used for all the differential pairs and four-transistor cross-coupled pairs.
- All ground planes of the front-end components were separated in order to avoid signal coupling and possible instabilities arising from positive feed-back loops.
- Large numbers of down-bonding pads are provided for the ground planes.
- A dedicated digital ground which is completely isolated from the RF grounds is provided prevent leaked RF signals from corrupting the clean baseband data.
- Guard rings with taps are used for all the front-end circuits to block substrate coupled noise and to avoid latch-up.
- Lengths of high-frequency wires are minimized by careful floor planning and optimal choice of pad order.
- Lengths of wires connecting all the differential signal lines were kept the same in order to minimize the phase and gain mismatch.
- Large de-coupling capacitors to ground are used for every VDD plane.
- Electrostatic Discharge (ESD) protection circuits are used with all the pads.
- Multi-layer metals wires with vias are placed to enclose each high frequency block to avoid interference between blocks.
- Dummy poly is used at both ends of transistor and resistor arrays.
- Metal wires with large width are used for paths with DC current larger than 1mA to ensure reliability.
- Large numbers of vias and contacts are used for all electrical connections.

6.3 Simulation and Measurement results 6.3.1 Integrated receiver simulation results

Fig. 6.3 shows the time domain receiver performance in the case where Band2 data is demodulated while Fig. 6.4 shows the corresponding frequency domain representation of this scenario. As mentioned in the modulation scheme description of Chapter 4, Band2 refers to the 4.2-4.8 GHz sub-band that modulates data bit '1'. The received signal is the modulated pulse sequence corresponding to data "0101010101". The LO signal, shown in Fig. 6.4 is set by the 4-bit DAC to lie in the desired sub-band (4.5 GHz). The LNA amplifies the weak input pulse train (350µV p-p) by 42dB and the mixer down-converts the signal using the LO signal. Fig. 6.4 clearly shows the down-conversion function of the mixer and we can see that in the mixer output, the desired sub-band (Band2) shifts to baseband while the Band1 components and higher order mixing products occupy higher frequencies. The mixer output is then filtered and the LPF output only obtains the desired sub-band data. This signal is then squared, added and converted to a single-ended signal by the squarer and the D-S converter respectively. The D-S comparator also amplifies the signal so that it is over the comparator threshold. The comparator then performs the threshold comparison and outputs the desired NRZ data corresponding to Band2.

Fig. 6.5 shows the receiver performance in the presence of a noisy in-band interferer located in Band2 (at 4.8 GHz). The transmitted data is the same in the first case. However, as described in Chapter 4, Band1 demodulation is preferred in this case so as to achieve the best interference immunity. From Fig.6.5 it can be seen that the desired UWB pulse train has been completely swamped by the much stronger interference signal. The 4-bit DAC inputs and the LPF tuning voltage have been tuned so that the LO frequency and LPF bandwidth meet the conditions specified in Eq. (4.15) and (4.16). As shown in

Fig. 6.5, once these values have been optimally set, the filtered output is free of any interference and the demodulation proceeds as expected through the rest of the receiver chain and the comparator output is the NRZ data corresponding to Band1 as expected.

The simulation results confirm the feasibility of the novel dual-band UWB FSK modulation/ demodulation scheme proposed in this thesis. Moreover, the receiver designed is shown to be capable of implementing this scheme and achieving the interference rejection capabilities that were targeted. Table II summarizes the simulated receiver performance. The receiver gain is calculated from the LNA input to the D-S converter output. The sensitivity is calculated by operating the receiver in its highest gain mode and then lowering the input pulse train signal strength until the demodulated data falls below the comparator threshold and hence cannot be detected.

Further details regarding the system design and performance can be found in the related paper for publication [40]. Measured performance of the fabricated chip is presented in the following sections and compared to the state of the art in recent publication.

Parameter	Simulated Value	Specification	Units
Operating Frequency Bandwidth	3.1 - 4.8	3.1 - 4.8	GHz
Supply Voltage	1.8	1.8	V
Current Consumption	48 to 84 *	60	mA
Receiver processing Gain	Up to 90	80	dB
Input Pulse width	2 to 6	2 to 6	ns
IIP3	-32	-20	dBm
Max. data rate	40	10	MHz
Sensitivity (Pulse amplitude)	90	100	μV

Table II: Overall simulated receiver performance

* For min. and max. LPF pass bandwidth (because power consumption of the LPF increases as bandwidth increases)



Fig. 6.3 Simulated receiver performance (Band 2 demodulation)



Fig. 6.4 Simulated receiver performance in clean channel (Band 2 demodulation)



Fig. 6.5 Simulated receiver demodulation and interference rejection performance (Band 1 demodulation)

6.3.2 Receiver front-end measurement results

In order to characterize the receiver functionality as completely as possible, the RF front-end of the receiver as defined in Fig. 6.1 was fabricated separately and measurements were carried out by packaging the chip in a Quad Flat pack No lead 48 pin (QFN48) package and mounting it on a Rogers RO4350B RF PCB test bed.

An external Gaussian monocycle pulse generator was used to generate the transmitted UWB pulse train which was subsequently attenuated and fed to the front-end input. The LO frequency was set to the centre frequency of the received wide-band pulse for maximum base-band signal capture. The mixer output is connected to a high impedance external buffer. This not only ensures that testing apparatus can be driven but also acts like a low pass filter due to its finite bandwidth.



Fig. 6.6 Measured receiver front-end performance

The measured results are shown in Fig. 6.6 and the buffered mixer output clearly shows the demodulated low frequency pulse train and confirms the front-end demodulation functionality.

From the theoretical analysis presented in Chapter 4, we know that in order to ensure robust demodulation using a sinusoidal template, the phase difference between the I and Q LO tones must be kept as close to 90° as possible. The generated LO output was tapped out for measurement and the results in Fig. 6.7 show the LO power to be +2.73dBm with I/Q phase mismatch less than $\pm 3.5^{\circ}$. The front-end measurements also showed the LNA gain and NF to be 30dB and less than 6.1 dB respectively while the mixer conversion gain for the desired UWB bandwidth is +5dB.



Fig. 6.7 QVCO I and Q single-ended outputs at 3.6 GHz

6.3.3 Integrated receiver measurement results

The integrated receiver chain contains all the elements of the RF front end and the analog back end. The receiver chip was packaged in a QFN56 package and again tested on a Rogers PCB test bed. Since the baseband section is not included in the test IC, the digital control for the DAC was provided on the PCB level through switches. An FSK modulated pseudo-random bit sequence was generated through an external UWB transmitter and supplied to the receiver after attenuation. The demodulation performance of the receiver was then tested by proper calibration of the various sub-blocks as described in the previous sections in order to recover the data in the 2 sub-bands independently. Fig. 6.8 and Fig. 6.9 show the results of demodulation process in both Band1 and Band2 and they correspond well with the simulated response of Fig. 6.4 and Fig. 6.5.

A summary of the key metrics of the proposed system is reported in Table III together with a brief comparison against other recent publications addressing interference robust UWB communication using conventional approaches.



Fig. 6.8 Receiver demodulated output of UWB FSK signal in Band '1'



Fig. 6.9 Receiver demodulated output of UWB FSK signal in Band '2'

Table III: Summary of measured receiver performance and benchmarking against state of the art in publication

Author / Institution	This work	Lee et al. / MIT [16]	Ryckaert et al. / IMEC [18]	Medi et al. / UCLA [15]
Product / Publication	-	ISSCC 2007	JSSC 2007	JSSC 2008
Approach	FSK Quad. energy detection Rx	Sub-banded PPM Rx	Quad. Analog Corr. PPM Rx	Channelized BPSK TxRx
Technology / Supply	0.18μm CMOS 1.8 V	90nm CMOS 0.65 V	0.18μm CMOS 1.8 V	0.18µm CMOS 1.8 V
Sensitivity (BER)	-88 dBm (10 ⁻⁵)	-99 dBm (10 ⁻³)	-75 dBm	-
Out-of-band SIR (10 ⁻³ BER)	-60 dB	-51 dB	-33 dB	0 dBm (int. power level)
In-band SIR (10 ⁻³ BER)	-19 dB	-15 dB	-23 dB [†]	-20 dBm (int. power level)
Data rate	25 MHz	0 - 16.7 MHz	< 1 MHz	1 Gbps
Power	2.7-4.95nJ/b	2.5nJ/b	1.44nJ/b	98pJ/b

 † Only measured for in-band interference signals > 250MHz away from the transmitted signal center frequency

Chapter 7

Conclusion and Future Directions

7.1 Conclusions

A new dual-band FSK modulation scheme is proposed for I-UWB applications and a receiver that can successfully implement this scheme have been presented. The utilization of FSK serves as a mean to increase the diversity gain of the system, hence making it ideally suited for robust demodulation in noisy and interference-ridden channels. In addition, this scheme significantly relaxes the requirements of narrow and high swing pulses which limit the scalability of traditional UWB systems to advanced low supply voltage technologies. The feasibility of system and the performance of the receiver were confirmed through extensive simulations and measurement results.

Many of the circuit blocks needed for the receiver were designed from scratch and some innovative circuit structures were explored and used. A UWB LNA utilizing active inductors in order to obtain drastic chip area savings was presented. A hybrid UWB mixer structure which combines the gate-source injection and Gilbert cell topologies in order to extend the operational bandwidth without compromising conversion gain has been implemented. A 4-bit R-2R resistor ladder DAC capable of less than 0.5 LSB INL and DNL performance with less than 25ns settling time for maximum output voltage swing has been designed. A four quadrant baseband squarer with a squaring gain of 65

and a dual threshold comparator with more than 700mV hysterisis, excellent signal integrity and good load driving capabilities have also been designed. All blocks were designed using CSM 0.18µm technology models. Integration and layout challenges have been discussed in detail and system level design considerations as well as meticulous layout techniques that were used to ensure proper functionality have been reported.

The fabricated receiver achieves a sensitivity of -88 dBm for a very robust BER of 10^{-5} . The maximum achievable data rate for the receiver is 25 MHz with an energy efficiency of 2.7 to 4.95 nJ/b. The benefits of the proposed UWB FSK communication scheme for interference mitigation have also been confirmed and the receiver can achieve 10^{-3} BER demodulation while tolerating as low as -19 dB/ -60 dB in/out of band signal to interference ratio (SIR).

7.2 Future Directions

- The fabricated receiver needs further rigorous testing for robustness in real-life indoor noisy environment.
- Ways to minimize the total number of components required for this system need to be found in order to lower the chip area and power consumption.
- The active inductor based LNA will be modified and utilized as a second amplification stage to achieve drastic overall area reduction.
- The baseband section needed for full implementation of the proposed system will be integrated on to the same IC.
- 5) The suitability of the proposed wide-band FSK modulation scheme to incorporate

added functionalities such as localization needs further exploration.

Reference List

[1] "FCC notice of proposed rule making, revision of part 15 of the commission's rules regarding ultra-wideband transmission systems," FCC, Washington DC, ET-docket 98-153.

[2] IEEE 802.15 WPAN Low Rate Alternative PHY Task Group 4a (TG4a).

Webpage: http://www.ieee802.org/15/pub/TG4a.html

[3] S. Roy, J.R. Foerster, V.S. Somayazulu, and D.G. Leeper, "Ultrawideband Radio Design: The Promise of High-Speed, Short-Range Wireless Connectivity," *Proc. of IEEE*, vol. 92, no. 2, pp. 295-311, Feb., 2004.

[4] Aki Silvennoinen, "Unlicensed reuse of licensed spectrum: case UWB"

Webpage:www.netlab.hut.fi/opetus/s38042/s04/Presentations/24112004_Silvennoinen/Silvennoinen_paper.pdf

[5] Christopher R. Anderson *et al*, "An Introduction to Ultra Wideband Communications Systems", Prentice Hall, 2005.

[6] Raul Blazquez, Fred Lee, David Wentzloff, Brian Ginsburg, Johnna Powell and Anantha Chandrakasan, "Direct Conversion Pulsed UWB Transceiver Architecture," *Proc. Of Design, Automation and Test in Europe*, Vol. 3, pp. 94-95, 2005.

[7] S. Lee, S. Bagga and W. A. Serdijn, "A quadrature downconversion autocorrelation receiver architecture for UWB," *International Workshop on Ultra Wideband Systems*, pp. 6-10, May 2004.

[8] Mi-Kyung Oh, Byunghoo Jung, Ramesh Harjani, Dong-Jo Park, "A New Noncoherent UWB Impulse Radio Receiver," *IEEE Communications Letters*, Vol.9, No.2, pp. 151-153, February 2005.

[9] E. Saberinia and A.H. Tewfik, "Single and multi-carrier UWB communications", *Proc. Seventh International Symposium on Signal Processing and Its Applications* vol. 2, pp 343 – 346, July 2003.

[10] A. Ismail and A. Abidi, "A 3.1 to 8.2 GHz direct conversion receiver for MB-OFDM UWB communications" *Digest of Technical Papers*, 2005 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, vol. 1, pp. 208 – 593.

[11] B. Razavi, "Design of Analog CMOS Integrated Circuits", McGraw Hill, 2001.

[12] Sangyoub Lee, "Design and analysis of ultra-wide bandwidth impulse radio

receiver," Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Southern California, August 2002.

[13] B. Razavi, "RF Microelectronics", Prentice Hall, 1998.

[14] T. Koivisto, T. Peltonen, M. Shen, E. Tjukanoff and A. Paasio, "Sine wave as a correlating signal for UWB radio", *International Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, pp. 674-677, May 2006.

[15] A. Medi and W. Namgoong, "A High Data-Rate Energy-Efficient Interference-Tolerant Fully Integrated CMOS Frequency Channelized UWB Transceiver for Impulse Radio," *IEEE J. Solid State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 974-980, April 2008.

[16] F. S. Lee and A. P. Chandrakasan, "A 2.5nJ/b 0.65V 3-to 5GHz Subbanded UWB Receiver in 90nm CMOS," *ISSCC Dig. Tech. Papers*, pp. 116-117, 2007.

 [17] D. Barras *et al.*, "A Robust Front-End Architecture for Low-Power UWB Radio Transceivers", *IEEE Trans. Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 1713-1723, Apr. 2006.

[18] J. Ryckaert *et al.*, "A CMOS Ultra-Wideband Receiver for Low Data-Rate
Communication", *IEEE J. Solid State Circuits*, vol. 42, no. 11, pp. 2515-2527, Nov. 2007.

[19] T. H. Lee, "The Design of CMOS Radio-Frequency Integrated Circuits", Cambridge University Press, 1998.

[20] C.-W Kim, M.-S Jung and S.-G Lee, "Ultra-wideband CMOS low noise amplifier", *Electronics Letters*, vol. 41, pp. 384 – 385, March 2005.

[21] Wei Li, B.L. Ooi, Q.J. Xu and P.S Kooi, "High Q active inductor with loss compensation by feedback network," *Electronics Letter*, Vol. 35, no. 16, pp.1328 – 1329, Aug. 1999.

[22] C-C Hsiao, C-W Kuo, C-C Ho and Y-J Chan, "Improved quality-factor of 0.18-/spl mu/m CMOS active inductor by a feedback resistance design", *Microwave and Wireless Components Letters, IEEE*, Vol. 12, no. 12, pp.467 – 469, Dec. 2002.

[23] A. Thanachayanont and A. Payne, "VHF CMOS integrated active inductor", *Electronics Letter*, Vol. 1, pp.440 – 443, June 1998.

[24] M. Nair, Y. Zheng, and Y. Lian, "An Active Inductor based Low-Power UWB LNA" *IEEE Int. Conf. on Ultra Wideband*, pp. 813–816, Sep. 2007.

[25] W. Zhuo, J.P. de Gyvez and E. Sanchez-Sinencio, "Programmable low noise amplifier with active-inductor load", *Circuits and System, Proceedings of the 1998 IEEE International Symposium on*, Vol. 4, pp.365 – 368, June 1998.

[26] K. Sharaf, "2-V, 1-GHz CMOS inductorless LNAs with 2-3dB NF", *Circuits and Systems, 2000. Proceedings of the 43rd IEEE Midwest Symposium on*, Vol. 2, pp.714 – 717, Aug. 2000.

[27] A. Pascht, J. Fischer and M. Berroth, "A CMOS low noise amplifier at 2.4 GHz with active inductor load", *Topical Meeting on Silicon Monolithic Integrated Circuits in RF Systems*, pp.1-5, Sept. 2001.

[28] J-N Yang, Y-C Cheng, T-Y Hsu, T-R Hsu and C-Y Lee, "A 1.75 GHz inductor-less CMOS low noise amplifier with high-Q active inductor load," *Proc. of the 44th IEEE 2001 Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems*, vol.2, pp-816 – 819, Aug. 2001.

[29] B. Gilbert, "A precise four-quadrant multiplier with subnanosecond response" *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 3, Issue 4, pp. 365 – 373, Dec 1968

[30] Y. Gao, K. Cai, Y. Zheng and B-L, Ooi, "A Wideband CMOS Multiplier for UWB Application", *IEEE International Conference on Ultra-Wideband*, pp.184 – 187, Sept. 2007.

[31] A. Torralba, "Flipped Voltage Follower – A useful cell for low voltage, low power circuit design",

Webpage:amesp02.tamu.edu/~sanchez/607%20Lect%205%20Flipped%20Voltage%20F ollower.pdf

[32] Jae-Hong Chang and Choong-Ki Kim, "A symmetrical 6-GHz fully integrated cascode coupling CMOS LC quadrature VCO", *Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 15, Issue 10, pp. 670 – 672, Oct. 2005.

[33] S. Chacko, P. E. Deliou and T. Holst

Webpage: www.me.gatech.edu/charles.ume/me6405Fall03/DAC.ppt

[34] E. Ozalevli, H. Dinc, Lo Haw-Jing and P. Hasler, "Design of a binary-weighted resistor DAC using tunable linearized floating-gate CMOS resistors", *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference*, pp.149 – 152, Sept. 2006.

[35] T.S. Rathore and A. Jain, "Abundance of ladder digital-to-analog converters" *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement*, vol. 50, Issue 5, pp.1445 – 1449, Oct. 2001.

[36] M.P. Kennedy, "On the robustness of R-2R ladder DACs", *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Fundamental Theory and Applications*, vol. 47, Issue 2, pp.109 – 116, Feb. 2000.

[37] BI Tecnologies BCN31/ 628 ladder networks

Webpage : www.bitechnologies.com/pdfs/resistorladder.pdf

[38] J.N. Bahanezhad and G.C. Temes, "A 20-V Four-Quadrant CMOS Analog Multiplier", *IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 20, No. 6, pp 1158-1168, Dec. 1985.

[39] J. Rabaey, A. Chandrakasan and B. Nikolic, "Digital Integrated Circuits", Prentice Hall, 2002.

[40] M. Nair, Y. Zheng, and Y. Lian, "A dual-band FSK receiver for interference robust UWB-IR applications" *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, 'To be submitted'





Appendix B – Dual-band UWB FSK receiver integrated front-end die photo



92

Appendix C – Dual-band UWB FSK fully integrated receiver layout



2.5mm

Appendix D – Publication List

P1: M. Nair, Y. Zheng, and Y. Lian, "An Active Inductor based Low-Power UWB LNA" *IEEE International. Conference on Ultra Wideband*, pp. 813–816, Sep. 2007.

P2: M. Nair, Y. Zheng, and Y. Lian, "A 1V, 0.18μm area and power efficient UWB LNA utilizing active inductors" *IEE Electronics Letters*, vol. 44, No. 19, pp. 1127 – 1129, Sep. 2008.

P3: M. Nair, Y. Zheng, and Y. Lian, "A dual-band FSK receiver for interference robust UWB-IR applications" *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I*, "To be submitted" (Patent disclosed in Oct. 2007)